
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Town Council  

FROM: David E. Cox, Town Manager  

DATE: November 19, 2020 

SUBJECT: Agenda Information – 11/24/2020 

The following is additional or summary information regarding matters on the upcoming Town Council 
Agenda.  The numbering below follows the agenda and some routine or self-explanatory items are not 
discussed in this memo.  As you review your packet materials, please do not hesitate to contact the 
appropriate staff member or me prior to the Council meeting with any questions or concerns.  Often, 
these conversations can help staff and me be prepared for the Council meeting and be ready to facilitate 
a more productive and efficient meeting for everyone.  

7 Resolutions/Ordinances/Policies/Proclamations 
7a Resolution to Modify the Scope of the High School Project – In follow up to various discussions, 
the Council is asked to approve a Resolution calling for Town Meeting action to officially amend the 
scope of work for the 2013 High School Renovations, Improvements, and Additions Project without 
increasing the overall appropriation.  The proposed scope amendment would clearly identify projects to 
replace and improve athletic facilities at the High School as follows: “(1) replacement of the entire tennis 
court surface, (2) replacement of the entire synthetic track surface surrounding the soccer field, (3) 
correction of water/drainage issues on a portion of the soccer field, (4) correction of sub-surface water, 
drainage, grading issues and irrigation and grass/sod replacement of the baseball outfield, and (5) such 
other work and improvements as are related thereto.” 

If the Council approves the proposed resolution, the Town Meeting would be asked to allow the use of 
approximately $1 million in unexpended funds from the High School project for this purpose.  The Board 
of Finance has already considered and approved a Resolution recommending the scope change.  Before 
adopting the Resolution, the Council needs to identify a date for the Town Meeting and whether the 
vote will be at the Town Meeting or a separate referendum.  Based on the timeline for publication, the 
earliest a Town Meeting could be held is Thursday, December 10.  As such, based on past practice, 
Monday, December 14 might be a good date for the meeting.  Under current state law as modified by 
the Governor’s Executive Orders, the Town is authorized to hold “hybrid” Town Meetings at which some 
members of the community attend in person and other attend via Zoom or some other platform.  
Recently, the Town of Goshen ran a successful Town Meeting using Zoom and in-person attendance.  
Goshen’s process required any person who wished to vote at the meeting to either log in to the meeting 
with both audio and video capability or attend in person so that identification could be checked and 
verified by the Registrars.  Residents with the ability to attend online were encouraged to do so in order 
to provide in-person space for those who could not.  Persons who did not wish to vote could listen to 
the meeting via phone or other non-video means.  According to reports, approximately 70 people 
attended the Goshen meeting and about 1/3 of those attended in person while the remainder attended 



Town Council - Agenda Information – 11/24/2020 
November 19, 2020 
Page 2 
 

 
 

online.  As with any Town Meeting, including those in “non-COVID” times, much time was spent 
checking voters in and preparing for the meeting compared to a relatively short and smooth meeting.  I 
am confident that East Hampton could accomplish the same result.  The full Community Room/Council 
Chambers space can accommodate 50 people with COVID restrictions and spacing and the Town has the 
technical capability to produce the Zoom portion.  If needed, additional Town Hall meeting rooms could 
be used for overflow. 
 
  Recommended Action: Approve the Resolution calling for a Town Meeting vote. 
 
7b Consideration of a Budget Policy Statement – In accordance with practice, the Council is asked 
to review and approve the 2021-2022 Budget Policy Statement as drafted by the Council.  The policy 
outlines Council guidance and requirements for staff and others as it relates to the preparation and 
consideration of the next Town budget.  
 
  Recommended Action: Approve the Policy 
 
7c Consideration of a Resolution Approving a Historic Document Preservation Grant – Through 
the Connecticut State Library, the Town has received a grant to fund the cost of the next phase of an 
ongoing project to convert land records  in the Clerk’s Office for better long term storage.  This project 
has been ongoing and is nearing completion.  The work funded by this year’s grant includes recreating 
21 large land record volumes by replacing the aging binders and reprinting the pages on 28-pound 
archival paper.  The goals of the overall project are to preserve the records, resize the cumbersome 
binders, and minimize storage needs for these particular volumes.  
 
  Recommended Action: Approve the Resolution accepting the grant. 
 
7d Consideration of an Internet Safety Policy for the Library – As the attached report from Library 
Director Ellen Paul indicates, the Town must adopt an Internet Safety Policy to remain in compliance 
with federal laws related to protection of children.  The proposed policy outlines steps the Library will 
take to filter material entering the library via public activity and the responsibilities of users.  The Library 
Advisory Board has reviewed the policy and is expected to approve it at a meeting on Monday, 
November 23.  
 
  Recommended Action: Approve the Policy. 
 
 
8 Continued Business 
9a Hunting on Town Property – In follow up to the previous discussion, the Council is asked to 
determine whether the Town will allow hunting on Town property.  The consideration comes after a 
request from a resident for permission to hunt waterfowl on Town-owned wetland properties on White 
Birch Road and on Wopowog Road.  The discussion was broadened to include consideration of other 
Town lands.  As noted previously, there is no Town Ordinance on the topic and the only information 



Town Council - Agenda Information – 11/24/2020 
November 19, 2020 
Page 3 
 

 
 

staff found in the file on the topic is a letter from the then Town Attorney indicating that Town residents 
do not have a right to hunt on Town land simply by virtue of being a resident.  Staff has included 
additional material including a map that identifies Town-owned land that may be candidates for 
hunting.  The parcels include those over 5 acres that do not include facilities or buildings or are too 
narrow to provide for the required separation from other properties.  Since waterfowl hunting is the 
direct question, staff has used a minimum distance from other properties of 250 feet.  State law requires 
a minimum distance of 250 feet from occupied buildings.  The Town Council has authority to set a policy 
of whether to allow hunting on Town-owned properties.  If Council desires to allow hunting, it would be 
appropriate to adopt an ordinance to that effect so that clear rules and authority would be in place and 
an enforcement tool would exist. 
 
  Recommended Action: Determine whether the Town is interested in allowing hunting 
on Town-owned land and provide any guidance as may be appropriate. 
 
8b Town Participation in RiverCOG Affordable Housing Regional Planning Effort – In 2017, 
Connecticut adopted legislation that required each municipality to develop or update an affordable 
housing plan for the municipality at least every five years.  The Affordable Housing Plan is required to 
specify how the municipality intends to increase the number of affordable housing developments in the 
municipality.    To date, East Hampton has not prepared its plan.  Recently, the Lower Connecticut River 
Valley Council of Governments (RiverCOG) proposed to its members a regional effort lead by RiverCOG 
staff and, likely, funded by grants held by the RiverCOG for regional planning.  The activity would look 
very similar to other regional efforts including the recent Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan work that 
includes a regional element and separate sections for each municipality outlining its specific issues and 
plans.  In discussion with Planning and Zoning Official Jeremy DeCarli, staff believes this will be a good 
way to accomplish this requirement at little or no direct cost to the Town.  Mr. DeCarli would be our 
representative to the effort and would be charged with keeping the community updated and 
encouraging participation in the planning.  In addition to Mr. DeCarli, a representative of the RiverCOG 
will be at the meeting on Tuesday to discuss the matter and answer questions.  
 
Additional materials have been included in this packet including a printing from the Connecticut 
Partnership for Strong Communities regarding frequently asked questions about CT Affordable Housing 
as well as the draft Affordable Housing plan from Newington and the final plan from Essex as examples 
of recent plans.  Others that exist may be found at the links below. 
 

Town Weblink Status Year Notes 
Newington https://newingtonct.gov/DocumentCenter/View/9108/Affo

rdable-Housing-Plan_DRAFT-09-23-2020?bidId= 

Draft 2020 
 

Essex https://www.essexct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif3116/f/uploads
/ahpessex.pdf 

Final 2019 
 

Fairfield https://www.fairfieldct.org/filestorage/10736/12067/1634
6/44447/75958/2014_AHC_Final_Report.pdf 

Final 2014 Pre- 
Legislation 

Salisbury http://www.salisburyct.us/reports/2018_Salisbury_CT_Aff
ordable_Housing_Plan.pdf 

Final 2018 
 

https://newingtonct.gov/DocumentCenter/View/9108/Affordable-Housing-Plan_DRAFT-09-23-2020?bidId=
https://newingtonct.gov/DocumentCenter/View/9108/Affordable-Housing-Plan_DRAFT-09-23-2020?bidId=
https://www.essexct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif3116/f/uploads/ahpessex.pdf
https://www.essexct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif3116/f/uploads/ahpessex.pdf
https://www.fairfieldct.org/filestorage/10736/12067/16346/44447/75958/2014_AHC_Final_Report.pdf
https://www.fairfieldct.org/filestorage/10736/12067/16346/44447/75958/2014_AHC_Final_Report.pdf
http://www.salisburyct.us/reports/2018_Salisbury_CT_Affordable_Housing_Plan.pdf
http://www.salisburyct.us/reports/2018_Salisbury_CT_Affordable_Housing_Plan.pdf


Town Council - Agenda Information – 11/24/2020 
November 19, 2020 
Page 4 
 

 
 

Simsbury https://www.simsbury-
ct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif1216/f/agendas/affordable_housi
ng_plan.pdf 

Final 2020 
 

Darien http://www.darienct.gov/filestorage/28565/31353/31355/
31372/40982/afforable_housing_plan.pdf 

Final 2009 Pre- 
Legislation 

East Lyme https://eltownhall.com/wp-
content/uploads/2014/06/Final-ELAHP-7-1-09.pdf 

Final 2009 Pre-
Legislation 

Stonington https://www.stonington-
ct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif3851/f/file/file/affordable_housin
g_plan_-_draft.pdf 

Final 2008 Pre-
Legislation 

 
Information on  the statute is available at the Connecticut Planning Association website at this link:  
https://ct.planning.org/knowledge-center/resource-library/connecticut-municipal-affordable-housing-
plans/  
 
  Recommended Action: Authorize Town participation in the regional effort. 
 
The remainder of the items are of a routine nature, in the sole purview of the Council or are 
announcements.  Please contact me or the appropriate staff member with questions or concerns. 
 
DC 

https://www.simsbury-ct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif1216/f/agendas/affordable_housing_plan.pdf
https://www.simsbury-ct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif1216/f/agendas/affordable_housing_plan.pdf
https://www.simsbury-ct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif1216/f/agendas/affordable_housing_plan.pdf
http://www.darienct.gov/filestorage/28565/31353/31355/31372/40982/afforable_housing_plan.pdf
http://www.darienct.gov/filestorage/28565/31353/31355/31372/40982/afforable_housing_plan.pdf
https://eltownhall.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Final-ELAHP-7-1-09.pdf
https://eltownhall.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Final-ELAHP-7-1-09.pdf
https://www.stonington-ct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif3851/f/file/file/affordable_housing_plan_-_draft.pdf
https://www.stonington-ct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif3851/f/file/file/affordable_housing_plan_-_draft.pdf
https://www.stonington-ct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif3851/f/file/file/affordable_housing_plan_-_draft.pdf
https://ct.planning.org/knowledge-center/resource-library/connecticut-municipal-affordable-housing-plans/
https://ct.planning.org/knowledge-center/resource-library/connecticut-municipal-affordable-housing-plans/


Town Council Special Meeting 1 11/9/2020 Minutes 

Town of East Hampton 

Town Council Special Meeting/Executive Session 

Monday, November 9, 2020 

Town Hall 2nd Floor Meeting Room 

MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Pete Brown, Vice Chairman Dean Markham, Council Members Tim Feegel, 

Barbara Moore, Mark Philhower, and Kevin Reich and Town Manager David Cox. 

Not Present:  Derek Johnson 

Call to Order 

Chairman Brown called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the Town Hall 2nd Floor Meeting Room. 

Executive Session 

a) Discussion of strategy with respect to collective bargaining

b) Review of and discussion of an attorney-client privileged communication.

A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Ms. Moore, to enter Executive Session at 6:00pm 

with Town Manager David Cox and Labor Attorney Nicholas Grello invited into the session.  Voted 

(6-0) 

Executive Session ended at 6:39pm. 

Adjournment 

A motion was made by Ms. Moore, seconded by Mr. Philhower, to adjourn the meeting at 6:39pm.  

Voted (6-0) 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Cathy Sirois 

Recording Clerk 

Agenda Item 3a



Town Council Regular Meeting 1 11/10/2020 Minutes 

Town of East Hampton 

Town Council Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, November 10, 2020 

Town Hall Council Chambers and Zoom 

MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Pete Brown, Vice Chairman Dean Markham, Council Members Tim Feegel, 

Derek Johnson (via Zoom), Barbara Moore, Mark Philhower and Kevin Reich and Town Manager 

David Cox. 

Call to Order 

Chairman Brown called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

Adoption of Agenda: 

A motion was made by Mr. Markham, seconded by Mr. Reich, to add item 7b – Proclamation for 

the Election Process.  Voted (7-0) 

A motion was made by Mr. Markham, seconded by Mr. Reich, to adopt the agenda as amended. 

Voted (7-0) 

Approval of Minutes 

A motion was made by Ms. Moore, seconded by Mr. Johnson, to approve the minutes of the Town 

Council Regular Meeting of October 27, 2020 as written.  Voted (7-0) 

Public Remarks 

None 

Presentations 

None 

Bids & Contracts 

None 

Resolution/ Ordinances/ Policies/ Proclamation 

Review of Policy Related to a Memorial Tree/Bench Program 

Parks & Recreation Director Jeremy Hall provided an overview of the policy related to the Memorial 

Tree/Bench program.  The proposed policy will be included with the minutes filed in the Town 

Clerk’s Office.   

A motion was made by Mr. Markham, seconded by Mr. Reich, to approve the policy for the 

Memorial Bench/Tree Program.  Voted (7-0) 

Proclamation for the Election Process 

Mr. Markham read a proclamation regarding the success of the election process. 

Agenda Item 3b



 

Town Council Regular Meeting  2 11/10/2020 Minutes  

A motion was made by Mr. Markham, seconded by Ms. Moore, to accept the Proclamation for the 

Election Process.  Voted (7-0) 

 

Continued Business 

Affirm & Authorize Acceptance of Four (4) Properties on Comstock Trail 

Mr. Cox reviewed four properties on Comstock Trail that are being requested to be donated to the 

Town. 

 

A motion was made by Mr. Philhower, seconded by Ms. Moore, to accept the donation of four (4) 

properties on Comstock Trail and authorize the Town Manager to sign any related documents.  Voted 

(7-0) 

 

New Business 

Discussion of Budget and Capital 

Mr. Cox noted that with budget preparation beginning, Council members are asked to bring up any 

specific projects for the budget early in the process.  Mr. Markham, Mr. Johnson and Mr. Philhower 

will be providing feedback regarding the budget. They will also be working on the Budget Policy 

Statement for the November 24 meeting. 

 

Discussion of Hunting on Town Property 

A request was received from a resident for permission to hunt on Town property.  There is no 

ordinance on the topic.  The only information on file is a letter from a former Town Attorney 

indicating that Town residents do not have a right to hunt on Town land simply by being a resident 

and a former Town Manager noted no hunting on Town property.  Council members discussed the 

areas in question and whether hunting should be allowed. The Town Manager will look at the 

property maps and bring additional information back to the Council. 

 

Discussion of East Hampton’s Participation in the RiverCOG Joint/Regional Affordable 

Housing Plan 

Planning & Zoning Official Jeremy DeCarli provided an overview of the requirement for an 

Affordable Housing Plan. The Lower CT River Valley Council of Governments proposed to its 

members a regional effort lead by RiverCOG staff and likely funded by grants held by the River 

COG for regional planning.  The Council members requested more information on what the COG 

has done in the past and what our neighboring towns are doing for this plan.  More information will 

be provided for an upcoming meeting. 

 

Council Participant for Review of RFP for Athletic Field Improvements Submissions 

Proposals for the Athletic Field Improvement project were received and will be reviewed in the 

upcoming weeks.  The Council is asked if one its members would like to be on the review panel.  

Mr. Reich will assist the review panel. 

 

Discussion Regarding High School Athletic Fields & the High School Building Committee 

The High School Building Committee has completed its work on the original project and have done 

so without considering or taking action regarding the inclusion of the athletic field project in the 

scope. At its last meeting, the Committee adopted a motion to close the project and submit the project 

to the Board of Education. According to the Resolution that established the High School Building 



 

Town Council Regular Meeting  3 11/10/2020 Minutes  

Committee, which is found in the materials for this meeting, the Committee automatically dissolved 

and the member terms ended “once the assigned project has been turned over to the Board of 

Education….” It is the opinion of the Bond Council that it is no longer an option to appoint new 

members to the Building Committee or assign those duties to another body, in order to move the 

athletic field project ahead using funds available in the High School project. In the alternative, a 

different process will need to be employed. The Council may have two options. First, the original 

Resolution that authorized the High School construction project could be amended to include the 

athletic field projects specifically. That Resolution would require Board of Finance approval, Town 

Council Approval and Town Meeting approval. Similarly, a second option would be a completely 

new Resolution authorizing the project using anticipated excess proceeds of approximately $1 

million in the High School project. The same approval process would apply as the other option. The 

Council is asked to consider these options and determine which they wish to pursue. Based on the 

Council’s desires, staff will work with Bond Council and the Town Attorney to establish the proper 

actions and process for consideration at the November 24 Regular Meeting or some other special 

meeting as may be necessary. 

 

A motion was made by Mr. Markham, seconded by Mr. Johnson, to direct an amendment to the 

original resolution be written to include the athletic field project.  Voted (7-0) 

 

Discussion of Meetings Returning to Zoom Only 

Due to the COVID Red alert level for the Town, the Council is asked to consider whether it wishes 

to return to solely virtual meetings (Zoom) or stay with the hybrid model. 

 

A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Johnson, to have all Town commission meetings 

return to Zoom format.  Voted (5-2) Mr. Feegel and Mr. Philhower against. 

 

Town Manager Report 

Mr. Cox provided an overview of the Town Manager’s Report, which will be included with the 

minutes filed in the Town Clerk’s Office.  

 

Appointments 

None 

 

Tax Refunds 

A motion was made by Mr. Philhower, seconded by Ms. Moore, to approve tax refunds in the amount 

of $1,369.34.  Voted (7-0) 

 

Public Remarks 

Paul Smith, Superintendent of Schools, asked that the Board of Education be exempt from holding 

their meetings via Zoom only.  It would set a wrong example if the Board meets virtually but the 

schools are in person. 

 

Communications, Correspondence & Announcement  

Ms. Moore read a piece regarding the history of Veteran’s Day. 

 

 



Town Council Regular Meeting 4 11/10/2020 Minutes 

Executive Session 

Attorney Client Privilege Communication – Pending Claims Against the Town 

A motion was made by Mr. Markham, seconded by Ms. Moore, to enter Executive Session at 7:50pm 

inviting in Town Manager David Cox, Town Attorney Richard Carella and Finance Director Jeff 

Jylkka.  Voted (7-0) 

Executive Session ended at 8:25pm. 

Adjournment 

A motion was made by Mr. Markham, seconded by Ms. Moore, to adjourn the meeting at 8:25pm.  

Voted (7-0) 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Cathy Sirois 

Recording Clerk 



RESOLUTION OF TOWN COUNCIL 

Item 7a (2013 High School Renovations, Improvements and Additions Project Scope 

Amendment): 

M      introduced the following resolution, which was 

seconded by M : 

RESOLVED, that the Town Meeting of the Town of East Hampton consider and act 

upon the following resolution which the Town Council recommends be approved, and which the 

Town Council hereby adopts:   

TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN MEETING MODIFYING THE SCOPE OF 

THE 2013 HIGH SCHOOL RENOVATIONS, IMPROVEMENTS AND 

ADDITIONS PROJECT  

WHEREAS, The Town of East Hampton at referendum held June 4, 2013 

approved an appropriation and borrowing authorization of $51,695,000 for costs in 

connection with renovations, improvements and additions to East Hampton High 

School (the “2013 High School Renovations, Improvements and Additions Project”); 

and  

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the Town to modify the scope of the 

project to include certain additional work;  

NOW, THEREFORE, RESOLVED, that the scope of the aforesaid 

$51,695,000 appropriation for the 2013 High School Renovations, Improvements and 

Additions Project is hereby modified to include the following work:  (1) replacement 

of the entire tennis court surface, (2) replacement of the entire synthetic track surface 

surrounding the soccer field, (3) correction of water/drainage issues on a portion of 

the soccer field, (4) correction of sub-surface water, drainage, grading issues and 

irrigation and grass/sod replacement of the baseball outfield, and (5) such other work 

and improvements as are related thereto.  The Town Council is authorized to establish 

a building committee to determine the scope and particulars of and implement such 

work, and exercise such powers as shall be provided by the Town Council.  

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Town Council hereby authorizes the Chairman of the 

Town Council to call a Special Town Meeting to be held _____day, __________ __, 2020 at the 

____________________, _____________ Road, East Hampton, Connecticut at ______ p.m., to 

act upon the aforesaid resolution. 

Approved this 24th day of November 2020. 

TOWN COUNCIL ATTEST 

___________________________________ ________________________________ 

James Brown, Chairperson Kelly Bilodeau, Town Clerk  

Agenda Item 7a



Agenda Item 7b





Agenda Item 7c











TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON 
AGENDA REPORT 

  AGENDA ITEM:   _______________ 

DATE:  November 24, 2020 

SUBJECT: Internet Safety Policy 

DEPARTMENT: Library 

BACKGROUND 

The East Hampton Public Library recommends adoption of the attached Internet Safety Policy. 

The Library is required to have an approved Internet Safety Policy to comply with the Federal Child Internet 
Protection Act (CIPA) and to receive Federal Communications Commission (FCC) e-rate funding, which is 
intended to make broadband internet access affordable for libraries and schools. 

Through that program, the East Hampton Public Library receives $1,200 per year from the FCC, which pays 50% 
of our fiber internet service and maintenance bill. 

The attached Internet Safety Policy makes clear to the East Hampton community that: 
- The Library uses a filter (technology protection measure) to block inappropriate content on all of our public 

access computers. 
- The Library can turn off those filters for legitimate research purposes. 
- The Library has taken steps to promote the safety and security of library patrons who use the internet on 

our public access computers. 
- Patrons or their parents or guardians are responsible for what they access on the internet. 

The Library Advisory Board reviewed the attached Internet Safety Policy at its November 2nd, 2020 meeting and is 
expected to approve said policy at its Monday, November 23rd, 2020 special meeting. 

FISCAL IMPACT   No fiscal impact. 

7d



Internet Safety Policy 

It is the policy of the East Hampton Public Library to use technology protection measures in an 
attempt to: 

a) Prevent access to or transmission of inappropriate material via Internet, electronic mail,
or other forms of electronic communication; 
b) Prevent unauthorized access and other unlawful online activity;
c) Prevent unauthorized online disclosure, use or dissemination of personal identification of
minors; and 
d) Comply with the Children’s Internet Protection Act [Pub. L. No. 106-554 and 47 USC
254(h)]. 

Access to Inappropriate Material 
To the extent practical, technology protection measures shall be used to block or filter Internet 
content. Specifically, as required by the Children’s Internet Protection Act (CIPA), blocking shall 
be applied to visual depictions of material deemed obscene, child pornography, or harmful to 
minors, as defined in the CIPA. 

Subject to staff supervision, technology protection measures may be disabled, during use by an 
adult, only for bona fide research or other lawful purposes. 

Inappropriate Network Use 
To the extent practical, steps shall be taken to promote the safety and security of users of the 
East Hampton Public Library’s online computer network when using electronic mail, chat 
rooms, instant messaging, and other forms of direct electronic communications and prevent 
inappropriate network use. Specifically, inappropriate network usage includes: 

a) Unauthorized access, including hacking and other unlawful activities; and
b) Unauthorized disclosure, use, and dissemination of personal identification information
regarding minors. 

Supervision and Monitoring 
It shall be the responsibility of the East Hampton Public Library staff to supervise and monitor 
usage of the Technology Protection Measure in use on the computer network, and access to 
the Internet in accordance with this policy, the East Hampton Public Library Internet Use Policy, 
and the CIPA. 

Patrons are responsible for what they access on the internet, and parents or guardians are 
responsible for their children’s use of the internet. It is not the responsibility of library staff to 
monitor all content accessed. 

Procedures for disabling or otherwise modifying any technology protection measures shall be 
the responsibility of the Library Director or designated representatives. 



 

The library acknowledges that no technology prevention mesure is available that will block out 
all illegal content while allowing all constitutionally protected material. 

Terms: 
Minor – an individual who has not attained the age of 17 years 
Technology Protection Measure – a specific technology that blocks or filters Internet content 
Obscene – as defined in section 1460 of title 18 United States Code 
Child Pornography – as defined in section 2256 of title 18, United States Code 
Harmful to Minors – any picture, image, graphic image file, or other visual depiction that: 
1. a)  Taken as a whole and with respect to minors, appeals to a prurient interest in nudity, 

sex or excretion; 
2. b)  Depicts, describes, or represents in a patently offensive way with respect to what is 

suitable for minors, an actual or simulated sexual act or sexual contact, actual or simulated 
normal or perverted sexual acts, or a lewd exhibition of the genitals; and 

3. c)  Taken as a whole, lacks serious literary, artistic, political, or scientific value as to minors. 
Sexual Act; Sexual Contact – as defined in section 2246 of title 18, United States Code 
 

 



1

Town owned parcels with potential for hunting
See Included Map

Reference 
Number M/B/L Street Address Legal Size Notes Land Cover Zone

1 24-64-11B-OS1 EASTHAM BRIDGE RD 1.68 Adjacent to Loos Pond Wooded R-4

1 24-64-11B-OS2 EASTHAM BRIDGE RD 1.01 Adjacent to Loos Pond Wooded R-4

1 24-64-9 WHITE BIRCH RD 33.58 Loos Pond Open Water R-4

2 33-86-1-OSW WHISPERING WOODS RD 26 Whispering Woods Open Space - West Mostly Wooded RL

3 33-86-1-OSE WHISPERING WOODS RD 22.97 Whispering Woods Open Space - East Wooded RL

4 33-88-14B-OS 19 PEACH FARM RD 15.1 Mostly Wooded R-4

5 26-85-1A-11 147 BEAR SWAMP RD 7.17 Adjacent to Transfer Station Wooded, Wetlands in Rear R-4

6 19-39A-10A-21 NORTH MAPLE ST 5 Off Christopher Road Wetlands R-3

7 01C-10-3 MIDDLE HADDAM RD 10.3 Wooded R-2

8 06-14-A HOG HILL RD 167 Pine Brook Preserve Open Water and Wooded RL

8 12-15-B OLD MIDDLETOWN AVE 11.4 Contiguous to Pine Brook Preserve Open Water RL

9 07-22-1 HOG HILL RD 35.03 Walters Property - South of Terp Road Stream RL

10 21-53-7 WOPOWOG RD 56.2 Conservation Showcase Wooded, Wetlands RL

11 27-90-3 140 COLCHESTER AVE 31.28 Tall Wood Drive Open Space Wooded, Wetlands RL

Items highlighted in yellow were specifically referenced in previous discussions or the resident request.

Possible Hunting Lands.xls

Agenda Item 8a



TS

¬«8

¬«10¬«9

¬«1

¬«11

¬«2 ¬«3

¬«4

¬«7

¬«5
¬«6

Town Owned Parcels

µ0 3,000 6,0001,500
Feet

Legend
Town Property with Potential for Hunting
Wetland Soils
Parcels
Barren
Developed
Turf/Grass
Other Grass
Agriculture
Deciduous Forest
Coniferous Forest
Water
Non-Forested Wetland
Forested Wetland

This map is for planning purposes only and should 
not be used for conveyance or other legal purposes.



11/19/2020 Connecticut Affordable Housing FAQ | Partnership for Strong Communities

https://www.pschousing.org/connecticut-affordable-housing-faq 1/6

Connecticut Affordable Housing FAQ

At the Partnership for Strong Communities, we advocate for safe, stable, and affordable homes in all of

our state's communities. We receive a lot of questions about affordable housing, and how it benefits

Connecticut residents; below are some of the most common questions. We hope that this FAQ helps

people understand the need for affordable homes in their towns and cities.

1. What Is Affordable Housing? How Is It Different From Supportive
Housing?

The common definition of an affordable home is one where the resident spends no more than 30% of

their income to pay the rent or mortgage. Supportive housing is also considered affordable, but goes a

step further to include access to additional services or resources that low-income residents may need.

Over 200,000 households are spending more than half their income on housing costs. In Connecticut,

the amount a person must make per hour to afford a typical two-bedroom apartment is $25.40 and the

average wage for a renter is $17.53 (NLIHC, 2019 (https://reports.nlihc.org/oor/connecticut)).

2. What Is The Affordable Housing Land Use Appeals Procedure (C.G.S.
Section 8-30g)?

In an effort to encourage affordable housing statewide, Connecticut municipalities with less than 10% of

their housing stock designated as affordable are subject to the Affordable Housing Land Use Appeals

Procedure (https://www.cga.ct.gov/current/pub/chap_126a.htm), C.G.S. 8-30g (widely known as “Section

8-30g”). This means towns with the least amount of affordable housing are responsible for further

explanation if their planning and zoning commissions deny a developer’s application to build affordable

housing. C.G.S. 8-30g lets developers pursue a court appeal, where the town has the burden of proof in

showing the denial was based on a substantial public health and safety concern that “clearly outweighs”

the town’s need for more affordable housing. Currently only about 18% of municipalities are meeting this

threshold. (Visit the Department of Housing Land Use Appeals page

(https://portal.ct.gov/DOH/DOH/Programs/Affordable-Housing-Appeals-Listing) for more information).

3. Why Is Affordable Housing Good For My Town And The State? Who
Really Benefits From Affordable Housing?

 (/) Stay Informed (/Stay-Informed-0)

Donate Now (Https://Www.Classy.Org/Give/250570/#!/Donation/Checkout)

Agenda Item 8b

https://reports.nlihc.org/oor/connecticut
https://www.cga.ct.gov/current/pub/chap_126a.htm
https://portal.ct.gov/DOH/DOH/Programs/Affordable-Housing-Appeals-Listing
https://www.pschousing.org/
https://www.pschousing.org/stay-informed-0
https://www.classy.org/give/250570/#!/donation/checkout


11/19/2020 Connecticut Affordable Housing FAQ | Partnership for Strong Communities

https://www.pschousing.org/connecticut-affordable-housing-faq 2/6

Regardless of if you already own a home or can comfortably afford rent, affordable housing options

benefit all of us by making our economy and middle class stronger. When outsized housing costs eat up

a family’s budget, there’s little wiggle room left for discretionary spending. When people have fewer extra

dollars in their pockets to spend at local restaurants, shops and service providers, the entire economy

suffers the loss in revenue, as does the state with the loss of sales tax. If we want to keep a strong

middle class in Connecticut – and in turn build a thriving economy – we need housing options that work

for people from all walks of life.

Everyone in Connecticut benefits from a healthy economy where residents are financially stable in their

housing and not just scrambling to make ends meet. Expanding affordable housing options for rentals

and starter homes means more families have an opportunity to move up the socio-economic ladder and

become part of a strong middle class. Affordable housing brings down Connecticut’s sky-high cost of

living, allowing our families, our towns, and our state to direct money towards the other issues we care

about and better strengthen our long-term economic future.

4. Does Affordable Housing Make Other Taxpayers Pay A Larger Share
Of Municipal Services Costs?

People often think affordable and subsidized housing developers do not pay local property taxes. That

isn’t true. These developers pay taxes just as any private homeowner or management company would.

In fact, most affordable housing complexes include a mix of affordable units and those renting or selling

at market rate. Affordable housing is funded in Connecticut at both the state and federal level.

5. Why Are So Many Young Adults Living At Home With Their Parents?
Why Can’t They Afford Housing On Their Own?

Connecticut’s millennial population – our most promising future workforce – is shrinking. The next

generation is leaving in droves to more affordable, up-and-coming cities because Connecticut lacks

affordable and desirable places for this generation to live. Many of those who stay in state simply can’t

afford to live on their own. Connecticut has the 6th highest amount of student debt in the nation. Saddled

with monthly loan payments, and starting on entry-level salaries, it’s no wonder 42% of millennials in

Connecticut are still living with their parents, the second highest rate in the nation. Single family homes,

which make up 70% of the housing stock in the vast majority of our municipalities, are impractical and

unaffordable for young professionals and couples just starting out.

6. Why Should Housing Be Close To Transit?

Young families and skilled workers today also want walkable communities where transit, shopping and

town centers are easily accessible. Mixed-use and affordable housing gives these young professionals

the kind of communities they want at a price point they can afford, and when done so strategically to

create walkable communities, is a catalyst for economic growth and new activity. Affordable housing



11/19/2020 Connecticut Affordable Housing FAQ | Partnership for Strong Communities

https://www.pschousing.org/connecticut-affordable-housing-faq 3/6

options built near transit centers also opens doors for low-income residents by gaining them access to a

larger job pool in other towns and cities across Connecticut, as well as access to more essential

services. While many residents may not be able to afford a car, and therefore be limited in the distance

within which they can seek out employment, the ability to live reasonably near public transportation

means greater opportunities for more Connecticut residents.

Half-empty or underused plots of land – especially near mass transit stations like the New Haven-

Hartford-Springfield rail line – aren’t being used to their fullest potential and are a gold mine of

opportunity. By utilizing these underdeveloped locations for affordable housing, we not only provide

current residents access to the housing options they increasingly want – and are able to afford – but we

are also able to expand access to jobs people need and better attract and retain new families and

businesses to our cities and towns.

7. If My Town Doesn’t Have Transit, Why Should We Care About
Affordable Housing?

Connecticut's cities and towns are starved for fresh revenue, especially as statewide budget cuts to

municipal aid loom over local communities. As grand lists have flattened or fallen, nearly 90% of

Connecticut’s cities and towns haven’t seen any growth in the total value of taxable property in the last

ten years. While this kind of stagnation puts local homeowners at risk of seeing their property taxes go

up, it also threatens the overall quality of life, vibrancy and culture of our communities.

Instead of growing, our population is getting older every year, which poses a serious threat to the

strength of our civic workforce, like police officers, firefighters and teachers aging out of their jobs.

Moreover, as our residents age, more and more healthcare workers and homecare aides are needed to

care for this population, and these workers – many of whom earn minimum wage – need housing that

meets their budgets and should be able to live in the towns where they work. By creating more mixed-

income, multi-family housing in all of our municipalities, we will help the state remain economically

competitive and preserve the quality of life we all value here, for everyone.

8. How Can Increasing Housing Stability Help Close The Achievement
Gap?

Being able to find a comfortable home in a safe community is also an essential launching pad for social

and economic mobility. The average family in Connecticut has a long list of bills to pay between gas,

cable, smartphones, health insurance and more. However, no expense places a burden on families in

Connecticut like the cost of housing. A family’s limited discretionary income due to housing costs may

mean making serious sacrifices like healthcare or basic needs. Worse, one unexpected emergency

expense can put a family already stretched to the limit on the brink of homelessness.



11/19/2020 Connecticut Affordable Housing FAQ | Partnership for Strong Communities

https://www.pschousing.org/connecticut-affordable-housing-faq 4/6

Housing instability especially impacts children living in low-income communities. For too many young

students, access to a quality education is only half the battle, without the added stress of being able to

keep their home or moving frequently, sometimes in and out of a shelter. A safe and stable home

environment outside the classroom is essential to set our students up for educational success. At the

same time, parents who aren’t struggling to make ends meet can afford to invest in quality of life for their

children, through healthcare, more reliable transportation options and additional educational support.

Expanding affordable housing options for families living paycheck to paycheck not only helps ensure

vulnerable children and working people don’t end up without a place to sleep at night, but can alleviate a

tremendous cost burden that keeps them from getting out of a cycle of poverty. More affordable housing

options means a greater number of Connecticut families have an opportunity to build a better life for

themselves and save for things like college, retirement, or their first permanent home.

9. Connecticut Is Already Crowded, Why Do We Want To Attract More
People To Live In Our State?

The number of young children in Connecticut is actually on the decline. The school-age population is set

to decrease in the majority of municipalities through 2030. Young parents – as well as couples

considering becoming parents – want to live near good school districts for their children. When they find

it impossible to afford adequate housing for a growing family in desirable communities, they are forced to

move their family out of state, taking their careers and their tax dollars with them.

In order to remain competitive, we also need a marketplace that allows business to grow and thrive. In

order to do that, businesses need to be able to access a robust workforce. However, if families can’t

afford to live in Connecticut’s communities, the labor pool will remain stagnant, and businesses won’t

want to come here. Studies show that increasing the mix of housing in our communities can help bring

thousands of jobs to local communities and millions of dollars in additional state and local revenue each

year.

Do you have a question about affordable housing in Connecticut? Email us at info@pschousing.org

(mailto:info@pschousing.org).

Our Publications (/publications)

Resources

mailto:info@pschousing.org
https://www.pschousing.org/publications


Adopted by: The Town of
Essex Planning Commission
March 14, 2019

Affordable  
Housing Plan 
of the Essex  
Planning  
Commission
2019-2024



3

CONTENTS
04
05

11

12

14
15

13

05

What Is Affordable Housing?

Why Does Essex Need More 
Affordable Housing?

Incomes Have Not Kept  
Pace with Housing Costs
Current Lack of  
Multi-Unit Housing 
Current Lack of  
Affordable Rental Units
The Law: Affordable  
Housing Appeals Act

89 Affordable Housing  
Units Over the Next Ten Year

New Developments

Rehabilitated Housing

What Is Essex’s  
Affordable Housing Goal?

How Will Essex’s Affordable 
Housing Goal Be Met?

Affordable  
Housing Partners 

Recommendations

Appendix: GIS Maps

07
07

08

11

12

13

Photo by Jody Dole



BACKGROUND
The Essex Ad-Hoc Committee of Housing Options was created by the Essex Planning Commission in September 2017 to foster 
the development of affordable housing in the Town of Essex. The Committee has worked to better understand Essex’s specific 
housing needs, identify properties that have housing development potential and to learn how to better support our local housing 
organizations: the Essex Housing Authority, Hope Partnership, and Middlesex Habitat for Humanity for Connecticut. 

In July 2017, new legislation was passed (Public Act 17-170) requiring every municipality to have an “Affordable Housing Plan” 
adopted by the town that “shall specify how the municipality intends to increase the number of affordable housing developments 
in the municipality.” 

This Act was created as a modification to an existing Statue that already applies to Affordable Housing in all Connecticut Towns. 
CGS 8-30G was created in the 1970’s as a checks and balances to help boost local affordable housing project approvals after the 
State recognized an overall lack of affordable housing options. The law currently places the burden of proof for an appeal under 
this Statute on the Town rather than the applicant. The Town must demonstrate that the threat to local health, safety and welfare 
was far greater than the general need for affordable housing. The law also provides increased flexibility to developers, they 
may not need to adhere to all zoning standards including setbacks, zone restrictions, parking requirements and lot coverage 
standards. Any Town in Connecticut that does not have at least ten (10) percent of their housing stock deed restricted to qualify 
as “affordable” is open to an appeal under 8-30g.

This document is intended, in part, to satisfy that State-mandated requirement while clearly demonstrating what Essex can 
do to encourage the creation of affordable housing units so that it does not remain exposed to the 8-30g appeals process. The 
Committee understands that if Essex encourages affordable housing developments that are appropriate, the Town will be less 
exposed to an application under 8-30g which may not be in keeping with the goals of the Town.

The 2015 Essex Plan of Conservation and Development has outlined specific action items for the Town to accomplish with regard 
to housing.  

These include:  

1.     Establish overall municipal goals for increasing the percentage of state-designated Affordable units within Essex. 
2.    Develop Incentive Housing Zone regulations
3.     Examine potential development incentives beyond the IHZ program to encourage broader participation by 

developers in creation of affordable housing opportunities.
4.      Work closely with the HOPE Partnership, the Partnership for Strong Communities, and other nonprofit groups to 

educate the public, work with property owners and developers, and advocate for housing opportunities.

This document will attempt to address these issues, as well. 

This 2018 Affordable Housing Plan outlines the continuing need for affordable housing in Essex, proposes a specific goal of 89 
housing units over the next ten years, and describes specific actions that can be taken to achieve that goal. We hope that this 
plan will help inform and educate residents about the housing needs in our community and build the community support that 
is needed to move forward in achieving these goals. 

Sincerely, 

SUBCOMMITTEE ON AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
Alan Kerr, Chair   
Jane Siris
Loretta McCluskey
Maureen O’Grady
Dawn Boulanger
Peter Decker

Photo by Jody Dole



4

WHAT IS 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING?

Housing is defined as “affordable” if it 
costs less than 30% of the income of a  
household earning 80% or less of the 
Area Median Income (AMI). 

In order to count towards a town’s official tally of 
affordable housing, the property must be deed 
restricted to remain affordable for at least 30 years. 
This calculation is adjusted annually and by house-
hold size as shown in Table 1 below:

Data for Middlesex County, CT 
AMI (2016): $85,000 

 80% of AMI

1 Person 
$46,000

4 People 
$65,700

5 People 
$71,000

2 People 
$52,000

3 People 
$59,150

* Source: HUD Income; State of CT

Example:  
2 Bedroom Unit Total/ Year Total/

Month

Area Median Income 
(AMI) $85,000.00 $6,695.00

Median Income level per household in the surrounding area

80% of AMI $68,000.00 $5,356.00

80% of median income from above

30% of 80% AMI $20,400.00 $1,700.00

$1,607 must be compared to  the HUD rates shown below, 
the lower number shall be used

120% HUD Fair  
Market Rate

$1,386.00 
x 120% = 
$1,663.00

$1663.00

Monthly Housing Costs  
(Rent/Mortgage + Utilities) 
HUD Fair Market Rates 

For a two-bedroom housing unit to be eligible for 
consideration as an “affordable housing” unit, it must 
cost less than $1,663 per month. 

1 Person 2 People   

$1,150                   $1,315 

 3 People 4 People 5 People 

 $1,479  $1,643  $1,775

https://sites.google.com/site/connecticutmortgagelimits/hud-median-income-limits


5

WHY DOES ESSEX NEED  
MORE AFFORDABLE HOUSING?

Incomes Have Not Kept Pace with Housing Costs

Many of the people who work in town — staff at Essex Meadows, teachers and 
aides at Essex Elementary School, retail clerks at Colonial Market and many 
other local businesses that residents of the town depend on — might find it 
difficult to afford a home in Essex if they wanted to live here.

Many older adults who have lived in Essex for decades have trouble affording 
basic repairs and upkeep on their homes, yet have no opportunities to 
downsize due to the lack of suitable housing stock. 

Young adults who grew up in Essex would like to raise their own 
families here, but affordable “starter homes” are either non-existent or need a 
great deal of rehab in order to be livable. Demands on younger residents such 
as repaying college loans often leave very little household income to pay a 
mortgage.

*Source: Housing Data Profiles

Census 
data 
shows 
that since  
the year 
2000, the 
average 
home 
price in 
Essex has 
increased 
by over 
60%. 

$222,360 

$360,600 

$0

$50,000

$100,000

$150,000

$200,000

$250,000

$300,000

$350,000

$400,000

2000 2017

Median Home Price in Essex

http://www.pschousing.org/files/PSC_2018HsgProfile_Essex.pdf


6

Population Trends Support 
Affordable Housing 

United States Census data shows that over the next 20 
years, the average age of Essex residents will increase. 
The Census further estimates that we will also see a 
notable decrease the number of school aged children 
within the community. Therefore, over that timeframe 
it is imperative that Essex work to ensure that the 
Town has adequate affordable housing options for an 
aging population. The graph below illustrates how the 
Essex population will change between 2015 and 2040. 

The 2010 U.S. Census data gives clear evidence of these facts:

According to the American Community Survey 
(based on the 2010 US Census) in 2016, there were 
986 households (36% of all households) in Essex that 
were paying unaffordable rents or homeownership 
costs (i.e., paying more than 30% of their household 
income on housing costs). 
 
Of these households, 305 are living in rental units. 
The current number of actual affordable rental 
housing units- meaning those restricted to be 
available to those at or below certain income limits 
in Essex is 49, as outlined above*.

In 2016, the Town’s median income was $86,376. 
Therefore, 50% of Essex’s households earn more 
than that amount and 50% earn less. To qualify to 
live in “affordable” housing, a household needs to 
earn less than 80% of the median.   According the 
Partnership for Strong Communities House Data 
Profile for Essex, in Town, 47% of the town’s renters 
and 29% of its homeowners spend more than 30% of 
their household income on housing.  Households are 
considered to be “cost burdened” if they spend more 
than 30% of their total household income on housing. 
Due to the fact that they are spending such a large 
portion of their income on housing their spending 
power for other necessities such as utilities, childcare, 
groceries or healthcare is reduced. If the Town can 
work to provide lower cost housing options, the 
occupants of these units will have more discretionary 
income, potentially to spend at local businesses.

* CT Department of Housing Affordable Housing Appeals List (2016)

Governmentally Assisted Units 36

Tenant Rental Assistance 3

CHFA/USDA Mortgages 10

Deed Restricted Units 0

Total Affordable Units 49

1656
681

236

305

114

Housing Costs as a Percent of Income

Owners spending 30% or Less Owners spending 30% or More

Renters spending 30% or More Renters spending 30% or Less

Not Computed

-100%

-80%

-60%

-40%

-20%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0--4 5--9 10--14 15--19 20--24 25--29 30--34 35--39 40--44 45--49 50--54 55--59 60--64 65--69 70--74 75--79 80--84 85+

PE
RC

EN
T 

O
F 

CH
AN

G
E

TO
TA

L 
N

U
M

BE
R 

O
F 

RE
SI

DE
N

TS

AGE COHORTS

Projected Population Trends

2015 2040 Percent Change



7

Current Lack of Multi-Unit Housing 

Of Essex’s occupied housing stock, 78% are 
 single-family homes. Only 22% of housing units  
are multi-family (two or more housing units). 

Housing that contains two or more units is often more affordable 
by nature than single-family housing. Statewide, 67% of housing 
is single-family and 33% is multi-family. More multi-family housing 
options are needed in Essex.

Housing Costs for 
Owners and Renters

Affordability
Across CT, 50% of renters and 
32% of owners spend more than 
30% of their income on housing.  
In Essex, 47% of renters spend 
more than 30% of their income on 
housing, while 29% of owners do 
the same. Households that spend 
more than 30% of their income on 
housing may have little left over for 
nexessities such as transportation, 
food, healthcare, etc.

Housing Costs as a % of 
Household Income: Essex

Source: 
2011-15  
American 
Community 
Survey

Owner Occupied
  Spending < 30%             1656      55 
  Spending > -30%               681      23 
  Not Computed                       0        0 
 
Renter Occupied          
  Spending < 30%               236        8 
  Spending > -30%              305      10 
  Not Computed                  114        4 

#  
Units

% 
Total

Current Lack of Affordable Rental Units 

In Essex, only 22% of housing units are occupied by  
renters. Statewide, 29% of housing units are occupied by 
renters. Many young adults and families want to or need  
to rent before they purchase a house.  

With only 22% of Essex’s stock rentable and at any given time a 
small sliver of that available for rent, options are limited. 

Every town needs some diversity in its housing options. Housing 
needs vary greatly at different times in our lives. To retain diversity 
within our community, our town must strive to provide the 
equivalent in its housing stock. 

Without this flexibility any change in family 
size, health or employment puts us in danger 
of losing the members of our community we 
should be valuing the most – our teachers,  
our health care providers, our employees 
and our volunteers.



8

Property Units Type

Essex Place 22 Elderly

Essext Court 36 Elderly

Essex Station 16 restricted of 52 total Rental

Total affordable housing units 74

Total housing units in Essex 3261

Percent of 8-30g qualified 2.27%

Current Affordable Housing Stock in Essex

Cite: 2017 Affordable Housing Appeals List, State of CT

The Law: Affordable  
Housing Appeals Act 

In addition to losing both valued members of our 
community and the opportunity to attract more of 
such people, if the town fails to provide an adequate 
number of affordable housing units, under the Affordable 
Housing Appeals Act (Connecticut General Statutes 
§8-30g), the town’s zoning regulations can be largely 
overridden by a developer who agrees to restrict a 
minimum of 30% of new units as affordable housing. 

According to the State’s Affordable Housing Appeals 
Act (Section. 8-30g), if a town has less than 10% of its 
housing stock deed restricted to remain affordable to 

households that earn under 80% of the area median 
income ($65,000 for a family of four in the case of 
Essex), a developer can challenge and often override 
the town’s zoning regulations as long as at least 30% 
of the housing units in the proposed development 
are restricted as affordable. 

Currently only 2.27% of the Town’s housing stock is 
restricted in some way to remain affordable for those 
earning less than the area median income. 

The Table below shows the deed-restricted afford-able 
housing that currently exists in the Town of Essex. 

Photo by Jody Dole



9

Temporary Four-Year Moratorium:
The State can provide temporary relief from the 
8-30g process through a moratorium provision.  If a 
municipality can demonstrate progress in its effort to 
reach the goal of 10% affordable housing, the State 
will grant a moratorium on the ability of developers 

to sue the town for the right to build using the 8-30g 
statute.  The moratorium is granted for a period of four 
years and a municipality must apply for a moratorium.   
The rules for demonstrating progress are based on a 
point system, where different affordable housing types 
are awarded points as shown in the tables below.

Owner Property
Address

Year  
Occupied

Affordable 
Units

Unit  
Type

Income 
 Restriction

HUE 
Points  

Per Unit

Total  
Points

Essex Station 21 Plains Rd 2018 8 Rental 60% 1.5 12

Essex Station 27 Plains Rd 2018 8 Rental 80% 1.0 8

Essex Station 29 Plains Rd 2018 36(market) Rental Market in  
Set Aside 0.25 9

Essex Place 26 Main St 2017 22 Elderly 80% .5 11

Essex Court 16 Main St 1985 36 Elderly 80% Prior to 
1990 n/a

Tenant  Addisted n/a

CHFA Mortgage n/a

Spencer’s Corner TBD 2019(?) 17 Rental 60%(?) 1.5 25.5(future)

Total 40
Needed 65
Future 25.5(?)

Photo by Jody Dole



10

Housing Unit Equivalent
Type of Unit Point Value Per Unit

Market Rate Units in set aside developments 0.25

Elderly Units, owned or rented-restricted at or below 80% AMI 0.50

Family Units, owned, that are 80% of median income:
         Restricted to households with 60% or AMI
         Annual income no more than: 40% AMI

1.00 
1.50 
2.00

Family Units, rented, that are 80%of median income:
         Restricted to households with 60% AMI
         Annual income no more than: 40% AMI

1.50 
2.00 
2.50

Mobile Manufactured Home in a resident-owned park:
         Restricted to less than 80% AMI
         Restricted to less than 60% AMI
         Market-rate within the park

1.50 
2.00 
0.25

Bonus Housing Unit-Equivalents Points
In Addition to Unit Point Value Above

Family Units, owned or rented containing three or more bedrooms 0.25

Family Units within an approved Incentive Housing Development 0.25

If at least 60% of the Total Affordable units above are Family units,  
then each Elderly Unit receives 0.50

“Essex has many large single-family homes but few apartments, townhomes, or multi-family houses.  
This limited range of housing choices limits the diversity of Essex residents. This is, and will continue to 
be, a challenge for the community.”  -Essex Town Plan of Conservation & Development (2015)



11

WHAT IS ESSEX’S  
AFFORDABLE HOUSING GOAL?

Essex needs a greater diversity in its housing options to meet the changing housing 
needs of its residents and to attract new younger families and professionals. 

More specifically, Essex needs rental housing options and multi-family housing  
options that are affordable for families earning less than $65,000 and single people or 

seniors earning less than $46,000. 

89 Affordable Housing Units  
Over the Next Ten Years  
 The development of an additional 89 units would 
increase the affordable housing stock to 5% Essex 
 currently has  2.27% as shown in the table above. 
The remaining 95% or 2,934 units remain 
unrestricted and open to market forces. 

The 89 new affordable housing units maybe created 
from new construction or reuse of existing buildings. 
Essex has a goal to achieve the creation of an 
additional 19 owner occupied units and 70 rental 
units. Because some residents may prefer to own 
rather than rent, it is important to have options for 
both housing types and ownership types available.

Photo by Jody Dole



12

HOW WILL ESSEX’S AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING GOAL BE MET?

New Developments  

When considering the feasibility of potential sites 
for development, there are two primary issues to 
consider: 

1.  Property control/ownership: Without 
ownership/control of the land, encouraging a 
development the Town can endorse is more 
difficult. 

2.  Proximity to existing utilities/services:  
Avoiding the need to construct new water 
systems makes any project more financially 
viable. Proximity to available transportation 
services, such as Nine-Town Transit should 
be considered.

Creating housing opportunities for new residents 
within our village centers will help support village 
center businesses and preserve open space out¬side 
the village centers. This approach conforms to the 
goals of the Plan of Conservation and Development. 
 Based on these considerations, we have developed 
a preliminary list of parcels that may be worth 

further investigation as potential affordable housing 
development locations. 

The criteria for this initial property identification 
included the following:
•  Minimum of 5 acres on individual parcel or 

aggrega tion of adjacent parcels;
•  Proximity to town village centers or 

“development nodes” as defined in the PoCD

Properties removed from this analysis included: 
•  Town, State, land trust, and other nonprofit 

owned land;
•  Well-developed properties (Essex Meadows, 

Lee Company, etc.;
• Cemeteries;
•  Homeowners’ association conservation land 

(part of subdivision approvals)

The search resulted in two groups of potential sites. 
One group is in the general vicinity of the Route 
153/154/Westbrook Road triangle development 
node, (identified as Centerbook on map below), and 
the other is just outside of Ivoryton Village (identified 
as Mares Hill on map below).

None of these parcels are “shovel ready”.  All of 
them have characteristics that require additional 
consideration. Some have existing buildings on 
the property (and much excess land), others have 
wetlands corridors to consider, on some sites, access 
from the main road is uncertain. 

Photo by Jody Dole



13

We are fortunate, in Essex, to have 
partners in our effort to increase the 
availability of affordable housing in  
the region.

The HOPE Partnership, based in Old Saybrook, 
states that their mission is “to create a continuum of 
affordable housing options in the shoreline towns 
of Middlesex County to ensure an eclectic economy 
and housing choices for all”.  They were instrumental 
in the creation of the Ferry Crossing development, 
in Old Saybrook and are currently undertaking an 
affordable housing project at Spencer’s Corner, in 
Centerbrook.  The HOPE Partnership knows how to 
assemble the necessary resources to get a project off 
the ground and Essex should take advantage of their 
expertise as we attempt to foster development in Town.

There are other organizations such as the Women’s 
Institute for Housing and Economic Development 
and the Corporation for Independent Living  which 
are both CT-based nonprofit development groups 

that seek opportunities to create new and revitalized 
housing in towns such as Essex. The Women’s 
Institute has already been active is assisting with the 
financing coordination and project management of 
the construction of Essex Place. 

The Partnership for Strong Communities, based in 
Hartford, has a statewide focus on various issues of 
social concern, including affordable housing.  They 
have provided our committee with useful information 
and they are another valuable source of guidance 
and insight into the effort to promote affordable 
housing in Essex.

Rehabilitated Housing

There may be opportunities in Essex for housing that 
is currently under financial distress to be renewed or 
rehabilitated as affordable housing.  Organizations 
such as Habitat for Humanity operate in this area 
and the Town should consider opportunities for 
increasing affordable housing stock via rehabilitation 
of existing homes. 

AFFORDABLE  
HOUSING PARTNERS

https://www.hope-ct.org/
http://www.wihed.org/
http://www.wihed.org/
https://www.cil.org/
http://www.pschousing.org
http://www.pschousing.org
https://www.cil.org/
http://www.wihed.org/
https://www.hope-ct.org/


14

Implementation Goals Entity  
Responsible Priority

Target Completion 
Date (from plan  

adoption)

Develop a list of sites suitable for 
this type of development Town Staff Moderate 6 Months

Issue a “preliminary approval” to  
certain target sites to encourage development P & Z High 3 Months 

Create an “Affordable Housing” section of the 
Towns website to market Essex to developers Town Staff Moderate 6 Months 

Adopt zoning regulations to  
facilitate mobility for all users All Moderate 12 Months 

Explore the appropriateness of an  
Incentive Housing Zone for increase densities Staff and P&Z Low 24 Months 

Prioritize the creation of units with 
accessibility to accommodate elderly residents P & Z High 6 Months 

Consider and prioritize sites with  
access to transit and local amenities  P&Z Low 24 Months 

Encourage the development of at least 
3 deed restricted affordable housing projects All High 60 Months 

Seek to identify, attract and approve uses  
which further complement affordable housing Staff and P&Z Moderate 12 Months 

Prioritize the continued use of all  
existing affordable housing units Town Staff High 12 Months 

Hold a public informational meeting  
to explain the findings of this Plan Town Staff High 6 Months 

Identify State and Federal funding sources  
to help facilitate affordable housing projects Town Staff Moderate 12 Months 

Essex should make a commitment to the goal of increasing affordable housing. It can do so, in part, by making it 
known to potential developers of affordable housing that the Town is interested in such projects.  Some simple 
steps the Town could take include: See Implementation Table below

RECOMMENDATIONS

Photo by Jody Dole



Appendix: 
GIS Maps



Legend
Potential Development Parcels
Building Footprints
Parcel Lines
Water
Wetland Soils

©

0 400 800200
Feet

Potential Housing Development Areas - Proximity of 2 Main St. Ivoryton

8 Main Street
Ivoryton

2 Main Street
Ivoryton

136 Main Street
Centerbrook

136A Main Street
Centerbrook

Main Street

A-1



Legend
Potential Development Parcels
Building Footprints
Parcel Lines
Water
Wetland Soils

©

0 1,000 2,000500
Feet

Potential Housing Development Areas - Centerbrook & Route 9 Gateway Area

75 Westbrook Road
Centerbrook

60 Main St
Centerbrook

Main Street

Plain
s R

oad
 (R

te. 
153

)

Route 9

A-2



Legend
Potential Development Parcels
Building Footprints
Parcel Lines
Water
Wetland Soils

©

0 1,000 2,000500
Feet

Potential Housing Development Areas - Mares Hill Road, Ivoryton

85 Mares Hill
Ivoryton

99 Mares
Hill Road

Mares Hill Road

Main Street

©

A-3





NEWINGTON 
Affordable Housing Plan 

Town of Newington, CT 
DRAFT For Community Review – September 23, 2020 



 

   
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION......................................................................... 1 

1.1. Overview ...................................................................................... 1 
1.2. Reasons For Studying Housing ..................................................... 2 

2. INVENTORY & ASSESSMENT ...................................................... 3 

2.1. Physical Characteristics ................................................................ 3 
2.2. Occupancy Characteristics ........................................................... 5 
2.3. Cost Characteristics ..................................................................... 7 
2.4. Affordability Characteristics ........................................................ 8 
2.5. State-Defined Affordable Housing ............................................. 13 
2.6. Existing Zoning Regulations ....................................................... 16 
2.7. Summary Of Findings ................................................................. 18 

3. STRATEGIES ............................................................................ 19 

3.1. Encourage Housing Meeting Community Goals ........................ 19 
3.2. Adopt Inclusionary Zoning Provisions ........................................ 25 
3.3. Address Housing Needs Of An Aging Population ....................... 26 
3.4. Address Needs Of Lower Income Households ........................... 31 
3.5. Consider Other Housing Configurations .................................... 35 
3.6. Help Address Special Housing Needs......................................... 36 
3.7. Retain Existing Housing That Addresses Needs ......................... 37 
3.8. Address Other Housing Issues ................................................... 38 
3.9. Implement The Affordable Housing Plan .................................. 40 

 
 
 
  

Cover Picture 
 
The picture on the front of 
this Affordable Housing Plan 
represents the concept of a 
“housing ladder.” 
 
The phrase “housing ladder” 
refers to a concept used in 
housing policy discussions 
where people may first rent 
an apartment or buy a small 
house and then move up the 
ladder to a bigger or more 
expensive home when they 
need or want a different 
housing choice and have 
enough money to do so.   
 
The housing ladder also 
works the other way in that 
people may move from a 
larger home to a smaller 
and/or less expensive home 
as their lifestage / lifestyle or 
economic circumstance 
changes. 
 
Overall, everyone can have a 
different path on the housing 
ladder provided housing 
choices are available. 
 
 



 

 
 
 

TOWN OF NEWINGTON 

 

 

 
 
Greetings! 
 
For many years, Newington has had an interest in understanding whether its 
housing stock aligns with the needs of residents of the community and the re-
gion.  This includes a number of plans and studies: 

 1958 Plan of Development 
 1973 Plan of Development 
 1977 Housing Study 
 1995 Plan of Conservation And Development 
 2008 Housing Needs Committee Report 
 2010-20 Plan of Conservation And Development 
 2015 Housing Needs Study Committee Report 
 2020-30 Plan of Conservation And Development 

 
Recently, the legislature established a requirement for each of the 169 munici-
palities in Connecticut to adopt an “affordable housing plan” by July 2022 (CGS 
Section 8-30j).  The plan is required to:  

 Specify how the municipality intends to increase the number of afforda-
ble housing developments in the municipality, and 

 Be updated at least once every five years. 
 
In 2020, the Town asked the Housing Needs Study Committee to address this re-
quirement.  This Affordable Housing Plan is the result of their efforts. 
 
Following a public hearing help on <<date>>, this Affordable Housing Plan was 
adopted by the Town Council on <<date>>. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

Town Council 
Town of Newington 
 
 
  

Housing Needs Study 
Committee (alphabetical) 
 
Carol Anest 

Town Council 
 
Michael Camillo 

Town Council 
 
William Hall 

Interfaith Housing Corp. 
 
Maureen Lynch 

Comm. on Aging / Disabled 
 
Craig Minor 

Town Planner 
 
Stephen Woods 

Town Plan & Zoning Comm. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

What Is “Affordable Housing”?  
 
In public policy, the term “affordable housing” is generally used to refer to:  
 

Housing which is priced so that persons and families earning 
eighty per cent or less of the area median income pay thirty 
per cent or less of their annual income on housing. 

 
This can include: 

 Market-rate housing which sells or rents at an affordable price - 
called “naturally occurring affordable housing (NOAH), and 

 Housing which is encumbered in some way to sell or rent at afforda-
ble price levels. 

 
Certain State statutes (such as CGS 8-30g) only consider housing which is en-
cumbered in some way to sell or rent at affordable price levels:  

 Governmentally assisted housing developments,  
 Rental units occupied by households receiving tenant rental assis-

tance,  
 Ownership units financed by Connecticut Housing Finance Authority 

(CHFA) mortgages or United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) 
mortgages for low/moderate income persons and families,  

 Housing units subject to deed restrictions limiting the price to where 
persons or families earning eighty percent or less of the area median 
income pay thirty per cent or less of their income for housing. 

 
For this Plan, both types of affordable housing will be considered: 

 Naturally occurring affordable housing, and 
 Housing that is restricted to affordable price levels. 

 
 

 

What Is “Market Rate Housing”?  
 
The term “market rate housing” is housing that sells at fair market value 
which is generally:  
 

A price at which buyers and sellers with a reasonable 
knowledge of pertinent facts and not acting under any com-
pulsion are willing to complete a transaction. 

 
 
 



 

1 
 

 
 
 

INTRODUCTION  

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. Overview 
 
Addressing changing housing needs and promoting diverse housing opportuni-
ties are priorities for the Town of Newington.  While Newington already has a 
diverse housing stock, the Town has come to realize that the existing housing 
stock, which has served us so well over the years, does not meet the housing 
needs of everyone – even for some people who live here already. 
 
For example, existing housing units may not be well configured to meet the 
housing needs of older persons and people, young and old, earning less than the 
average income have a harder time finding housing to meet their needs at a 
price they can afford.  This can include:  

 young adults (including people who grew up in Newington), 
 young families just venturing out on their own,  
 people working at businesses and industry in Newington, 
 workers providing essential services to residents and businesses, and  
 people who may have lived here their whole lives and now need or 

want smaller and less expensive housing so they can stay in Newington. 
 
This Affordable Housing Plan is intended to help address this situation.  The Plan 
looks at whether there will be affordable housing in the community that will be 
available for people who may need it at the time it is needed.  Planning for 
housing needs is important since: 

 Housing cannot be easily produced at the moment it is needed, and  
 The lead times (planning, design, construction) are so long.   

 
As a result, Newington needs to plan today for the affordable housing needs of 
the future. 
 

 
OVERALL GOAL 
 

Seek to provide for housing opportunities in 
Newington for all people. 
 

  

“Decent, afford-
able housing 

should be a 
basic right for 

everybody in 
this country.  

 
The reason is 

simple: without 
stable shelter, 

everything else 
falls apart.” 

 
Matthew Desmond 

American Sociologist 
 



 

2 
 

1.2. Reasons For Studying Housing 
 
Everyone needs housing and for a variety of reasons.  In fact, housing plays a 
part in almost every level of Maslow’s “hierarchy of human needs”: 
 

 

Housing provides shelter to 
meet people’s physiologic needs 

Housing helps meet people’s 
need for safety and security  

Housing creates a sense of con-
nection to a community  

Housing builds confidence and 
enhances self-esteem 

Housing creates the opportunity 
for people to contribute to their 
community and achieve their 
full potential 

In addition, there are other relevant considerations: 

1. State statues require the adoption of an Affordable Housing Plan by June 
2022 and an update every five years thereafter (CGS 8-30j). 

2. The statutory authority to enact and maintain Zoning Regulations includes 
the requirements that such regulations “encourage the development of 
housing opportunities” and “promote housing choice and economic diver-
sity in housing, including housing for both low- and moderate-income 
households … (CGS 8-2) 

3. The statutory requirement for a Plan Of Conservation And Development 
(POCD) requires that the commission … shall consider the … the need for af-
fordable housing, … [and] the needs of the municipality including, but not 
limited to … housing (CGS 8-23(d)) and make provision for the development 
of housing opportunities … for all residents of the municipality and the plan-
ning region … [and] promote housing choice and economic diversity in hous-
ing, including housing for both low and moderate income households … 
(CGS 8-023(e)). 

 
  



 

3 
 

 
 
 

INVENTORY & ASSESSMENT  

 

2. Inventory & Assessment 
 

2.1. Physical Characteristics  
 
According to the American Community Survey (ACS), Newington had about 
12,786 housing units in 2018 (the most recent year that data is available for).   
 
Housing Type – The ACS estimates that about two-thirds of all housing units in 
Newington are detached one-family structures.  This is slightly higher than Hart-
ford County and the state but lower than some nearby communities.  In terms 
of the state-wide housing mix, Newington has: 

 More 1-unit attached units (townhouses) and 10-19-unit buildings.   
 Fewer 2-9-unit buildings and 20+ unit buildings. 

 
Newington  Compared To State-Wide Mix 

 

 

 
American Community Survey, 5-Year Estimate (2018) 

 

 Newington Share County State 

1-unit, detached 8,184 64% 56% 59% 

1-unit, attached 1,443 11% 6% 5% 

2 units 393 3% 8% 8% 

3 or 4 units 587 5% 10% 9% 

5 to 9 units 691 5% 6% 6% 

10 to 19 units 973 8% 5% 4% 

20 or more units 505 4% 9% 9% 

Other 10 0% 0% 0% 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (2018) / Table B25024 

 
  

1-unit, detached

1-unit, attached

2 units

3 or 4 units

5 to 9 units

10 to 19 units

20 or more units

Other

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

1-
un

it,
de

ta
ch

ed

1-
un

it,
at

ta
ch

ed

2 
un

its

3-
4 

un
its

5-
9 

un
its

10
-1

9 
un

its

20
+ 

un
its

O
th

er

Newington County

About 2/3rds of 
all housing 
units in 
Newington are 
single-family 
detached 
homes … 
 
Percent 1-Unit Detached 
Berlin 79% 

Wethersfield 76% 

West Hartford 66% 

Newington 65% 

Connecticut 59% 

Hartford County 56% 

Rocky Hill 47% 

New Britain 31% 

Hartford 15% 
CERC Town Profiles, 2019 

 
 



 

4 
 

Age of Structure – Housing construction in Newington has slowed considerably 
since the 1960s and 1970s (from over 250 units per year to less than 30 units 
per year) due to less available land and other factors.  With more than half of 
Newington’s housing units built before 1970, the “typical” housing unit may re-
flect the desires of a different era rather than the age composition of today. 
 

YEAR STRUCTURE BUILT Newington Share County State 

Built 2010 or later 172 1% 1% 2% 

Built 2000 to 2009 729 6% 6% 7% 

Built 1990 to 1999 779 6% 7% 8% 

Built 1980 to 1989 1,432 11% 12% 13% 

Built 1970 to 1979 2,919 23% 13% 13% 

Built 1960 to 1969 2,208 17% 15% 14% 

Built 1950 to 1959 2,584 20% 17% 15% 

Built 1940 to 1949 807 6% 8% 7% 

Built 1939 or earlier 1,156 9% 20% 22% 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (2018) / Table B25034 

 
Physical Deficiencies – Overall, the estimated number of units in Newington 
lacking complete plumbing facilities (without hot and cold running water, a flush 
toilet, or a bathtub or shower) is low.  The estimated number of units lacking 
complete kitchen facilities (without a sink with a faucet, a stove or range, or a 
refrigerator) is somewhat higher and this may reflect the use of some motels on 
the Berlin Turnpike for housing. 
 

PHYSICAL DEFICIENCIES Newington Share County State 

Incomplete plumbing facilities 7 0.1% 0.3% 0.3% 

Incomplete kitchen facilities 112 0.9% 0.7% 0.6% 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (2018) / Table B25047 / Table B25051 

 
1-Unit, Detached  1-Unit, Attached  Multi-Unit Structure 

  

 
  

More than half 
of all housing 
units in 
Newington 
were built be-
fore 1970 and 
may not reflect 
housing needs 
of today or the 
future … 
 
 
 



 

5 
 

2.2. Occupancy Characteristics 
 
Population Growth – Population pro-
jections prepared by the State of Con-
necticut suggest that the number of 
Newington residents will increase in 
the future if recent trends continue.  
This population growth could be ac-
commodated through more people in 
existing units, and/or creating more 
housing units. 
 
Overall, more units and/or different 
units for a variety of household types, 
sizes, ages, tenures, and income 
groups may be needed in the future. 

 1880 – 2010 Population  
(with projections to 2040)  

 

US Census  / CT State Data Center 
 

 
Age Composition – At the same time, Newington’s 
age composition is changing.  Due to improve-
ments in lifestyles and healthcare, the number of 
residents in the older age groups is increasing.  The 
median age in Newington (half the residents are 
older, and half are younger) is older than it has 
ever been.   
 
Older persons and households have different hous-
ing needs and desires than younger persons and 
families. 
 

 Newington’s Median Age 

 1960  32.6 

 1970 30.2 

 1980 34.5 

 1990 39.0 

 2000 41.9 

 2010 43.6 

   
 2020 (projected) 42.6 

 2030 (projected) 41.1 

 2040 (projected) 41.0 
US Census, Planimetrics 

 
  

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

1880 1920 1960 2000 2040

 
 
 
 

Newington’s 
population is 
growing and 
more housing 
units may be 
needed … 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Newington’s 
age composi-
tion is changing 
with more older 
residents (with 
different hous-
ing needs) than 
ever before … 
 
 
 
 
 



 

6 
 

Household Size - Over time, the number of people 
per occupied housing unit in Newington has been 
decreasing.  In 2010, about 62 percent of all housing 
units in Newington were occupied by one or two 
people.  Only about 3 in 8 households contained 
more than two residents.  With smaller household 
sizes, people may want or need smaller (and less ex-
pensive) units than were built in the past. 
 

 Average Household Size 
   
 Year People/HH 
   

 1960 3.55 
 1970 3.40 
 1980 2.77 
 1990 2.56 
 2000 2.44 
 2010 2.43 
   

Historic - 1900 - 2010 Census.  
 

Tenure – Newington has a higher percentage of owner-occupied housing units 
compared to Hartford County and the state.  In terms of length of residency, 
Newington has a higher share of longer-term residents compared to Hartford 
County and the State.   
 

TENURE Newington Share County State 

Owner-occupied units 9,586 77% 65% 66% 

Renter-occupied units 2,808 23% 35% 34% 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (2018) / Table B25003 

 
YEAR MOVED INTO UNIT Newington County State 

Moved in 2010 or later 31% 41% 40% 

Moved in 2000 to 2009 30% 27% 27% 

Moved in 1990 to 1999 16% 14% 15% 

Moved in 1989 or earlier 23% 17% 18% 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (2018) / Table B25038 

 
Crowded Units– Newington has some “crowding” (where Census data indicates 
more than one person per room) compared to Hartford County although it is 
less than the state.  Again, this may reflect the use of some motels on the Berlin 
Turnpike for housing. 
 

OCCUPANTS PER ROOM (O/R) Newington Share County State 

Units with 1.01 to 1.50 O/R  164 1.3% 1.2% 1.3% 

Units with more than 1.51 O/R 38 0.3% 0.5% 0.5% 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (2018) 

 
 
  

 

With smaller 
household sizes, 
people may 
want smaller 
(or less expen-
sive) units than 
were built in 
the past … 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

7 
 

2.3. Cost Characteristics 
 
Housing Values / Sale Prices – The American Community Survey reported that 
the median house value in Newington (what property owners feel their housing 
unit would sell for) was lower (more affordable) than the county and the state 
and a number of surrounding communities.  The data on housing value reflects 
what all homeowners feel their housing is worth (all units) whereas the data on 
sales price reflects the median price of housing units that sold (a subset). 
 

HOUSE VALUE Newington Share County State 

Median House Value $232,700  $237,700 $272,700 

Less than $50,000 175 2% 2% 2% 

$50,000 to $99,999 251 3% 3% 3% 

$100,000 to $149,999 800 8% 12% 9% 

$150,000 to $199,999 2,027 21% 20% 15% 

$200,000 to $299,999 4,479 47% 32% 27% 

$300,000 to $499,999 1,717 18% 24% 27% 

$500,000 to $999,999 92 1% 7% 12% 

$1,000,000 or more 45 1% 1% 5% 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (2018) 

 
Gross Rent – The American Community Survey reported that the median gross 
rent being paid in Newington (utility payments are factored in) was higher (less 
affordable) than the county and the state and a number of surrounding commu-
nities.    
 

GROSS RENT Newington Share County State 

Median monthly rent $1,235 - $1,076 $1,156 

No rent paid 147 - - - 

Less than $500 192 7% 12% 10% 

$500 to $999 435 16% 31% 26% 

$1,000 to $1,499 1,496 56% 42% 38% 

$1,500 to $1,999 455 17% 12% 16% 

$2,000 to $2,499 42 2% 2% 5% 

$2,500 to $2,999 0 0% 1% 2% 

$3,000 or more 41 2% 1% 2% 

Renter-occupied units w/rent 2,661 100% 100% 100% 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (2018) 

 
  

 

Housing values 
and sale prices 
in Newington 
are lower (and 
more afforda-
ble) than some 
nearby commu-
nities … 
 
Median Sales Price 
West Hartford $326,000 

Berlin $281,100 

Connecticut $270,100 

Rocky Hill $264,100 

Wethersfield $250,700 

County $235,300 

Newington $229,900 

Hartford $162,300 

New Britain $156,800 
CERC Town Profiles, 2019 

 
 

Rental rates in 
Newington are 
higher than 
some nearby 
communities … 
 
Median Rent 
Rocky Hill $1,337 

West Hartford $1,258 

Newington $1,172 

Connecticut $1,123 

Berlin $1,118 

Wethersfield $1,069 

County $1,044 

New Britain $956 

Hartford $935 
CERC Town Profiles, 2019 

 



 

8 
 

2.4. Affordability Characteristics 
 
Housing affordability is an issue throughout Connecticut and communities are 
recognizing that community vitality, community diversity, and economic devel-
opment can all be enhanced by having a housing portfolio which includes 
choices of housing units which are more affordable.   
 
Using the methodology on page 9, the overall affordability of the existing hous-
ing stock can be evaluated. 
 
Affordability of Existing Units Based On Census Data 
 
Rental Units - When what people can afford to pay for gross rent (page 9) is 
compared to what people report paying (page 7), it becomes apparent that 
there are thousands of rental units in Newington which would be considered 
naturally affordable (even if the unit includes more bedrooms than the house-
hold might need): 
 

Maximum 
Gross Rent 

Estimated Number Of Rented 
Units Below That Value 

Percent Of  
2010 Housing Count  

$1,370 1,734 units 13.3% 

$1,570 2,187 units 16.8% 

$1,760 2,360 units 18.1% 

$1,960 2,542 units 19.5% 

$2,110+ 2,661 units 20.5% 
Planimetrics Based On HUD Income Data / American Community Survey, 5-Year Estimate (2018) 

 
Owner Units– Similarly, comparing what housing price people can afford to pay 
at current financing terms after considering mortgage, taxes, insurance, etc. 
(page 9) compared to what people believe their house is worth (page 7), it be-
comes apparent that there are thousands of ownership units in Newington 
which would be considered naturally affordable (even if the unit includes more 
bedrooms than the household might need): 
 

Maximum 
Sale Price 

Estimated Number Of Owned 
Units Below That Value 

Percent Of 2010  
Housing Count  

$150,000 1,226 units 9.4% 

$169,000 1,996 units 15.38% 

$184,000 2,604 units 20.0% 

$197,000 3,131 units 24.1% 

$2,110+ 2,661 units 20.5% 
Planimetrics Based On HUD Income Data / American Community Survey, 5-Year Estimate (2018) 

 

In addition, if a low-income household had enough funds for a 20% down pay-
ment, they could then afford housing priced about 20 percent higher than the 
purchase prices indicated above.  
  

 
Affordability Explained 
 
Housing is generally consid-
ered to be “affordable” if a 
household spends less than 
30 percent of its income on 
housing (rent, mortgage, 
taxes, utilities, etc.).   
 
While upper income house-
holds and typical income 
households may be able to 
afford to spend more than 
this on housing, lower in-
come households generally 
cannot since doing so would 
take money away from food, 
transportation, healthcare, 
and other important expense 
categories.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Newington has 
thousands of 
rental and own-
ership units nat-
urally afforda-
ble to persons 
earning 80% or 
less of the area 
median income 
… 
 



 

9 
 

 

Estimating Affordability Of Existing Housing 
 
A key measure of housing affordability is whether housing is available which is affordable 
to a household earning 80 percent or less of the area median income (generally consid-
ered to be lower income households).  The calculation for Newington looks like this 
(2019 HUD data for Hartford metro region): 
 

 
 

Area Median 
Income 

80% of 
Median Income 

30% Share For 
Housing 

Monthly 
Allotment 

 

  A A x 0.8 B x 0.3 C / 12  

 1 -person HH  $68,530 $54,824 $16,450 $1,370  

 2 -person HH  $78,320 $62,656 $18,800 $1,570  

 3-person HH $88,110 $70,488 $21,150 $1,760  

 4-person HH $97,900 $78,320 $23,500 $1,960  

 5+ -person HH $105,732 $84,586 $25,380 $2,110+  
Planimetrics Based On HUD Income Data (2020) 

 

The monthly housing allotment calcu-
lated above is the amount that could be 
spent on the maximum monthly gross 
rent (utilities included) where the num-
ber of bedrooms is one less than the 
size of the household. 
 

 Maximum Gross Rent   

Studio $1,370  

1 Bedroom $1,570  

2 Bedrooms $1,760  

3 Bedrooms $1,960  

4+ -Bedrooms $2,110+  
Planimetrics Based On HUD Income Data (2020) 

 
 

The monthly housing allotment calculated above can also be roughly translated to a max-
imum purchase price at prevailing financing terms (3.5 percent, fixed rate, 30-year mort-
gage, and assuming 100% financing and private mortgage insurance) where the number 
of bedrooms is one less than the size of the household.  The purchase price was calcu-
lated using Zillow mortgage calculator after deducting utilities, property insurance, and 
taxes (at an equalized mill rate of 2.5% for Newington) from the monthly allotment. 
 

   Allowances Net For   

  
Monthly  

Allotment Utilities 
Insurances, 
Taxes, Etc. 

Principal / 
Interest 

Maximum  
Sale Price  

 Studio $1,370 $210 $486 $674 $150,000  

 1 Bedroom $1,570 $270 $541 $759 $169,000  

 2 Bedrooms $1,760 $350 $584 $826 $184,000  

 3 Bedrooms $1,960 $450 $925 $885 $197,000  

 4+ -Bedrooms $2,110+ $600+ $625+ $885 $197,000  
Planimetrics Based On HUD Income Data (2020), DOH Allowance Estimates (2020), CERC Equalized Mill Rate (2020), and Zillow. 

 

 
  



 

10 
 

Affordability of Owner Units Based On Assessor Data 
 
This finding of a considerable amount of naturally occurring affordable housing 
(ownership, not rental) is also supported by 2020 information from the Asses-
sor’s database of estimated market values. 
 

Estimated Market Value (Assessor’s Database) 

 
Planimetrics Based On Newington Assessor Data (2020) 

 
Affordability Based On Cost Burden 
 
Housing affordability can also be assessed by comparing actual housing costs to 
actual incomes.  A household is considered to be cost burdened if more than 
30% of their income goes towards housing costs.   
 
Overall, almost 3,500 Newington households are spending more than 30 per-
cent of their income on housing.   
 
  RENTER  OWNER w/ Mort.  OWNER No Mort. 

COST BURDEN  Newington Share  Newington Share  Newington Share 

Less than 25.0 %  1,095 42%  3,647 60%  2,670 77% 

25.0 to 29.9 %  425 16%  674 11%  161 5% 

30.0 to 34.9 %  212 8%  428 7%  169 5% 

35.0 % or more  898 34%  1,274 21%  502 14% 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (2018) 

 

 
  

 

The Assessor’s 
database also 
shows that 
Newington has 
many naturally 
affordable 
home owner-
ship units … 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overall, almost 
3,500 Newing-
ton households 
are spending 
more than 30 
percent of their 
income on 
housing … 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Naturally Occurring Af-
fordable Housing  

In Newington 

At an estimated market 
value of $184,000 or less … 

… over 3,000 units exist in 
the Assessor database. 



 

11 
 

Older Households - Census data indicates that many elderly households have 
limited income and/or may be cost-burdened.  Even though information from 
the American Association of Retired Persons (AARP) suggests that many house-
holds would prefer to age in place in their current homes, this could change 
quickly depending on health or financial circumstances, especially for those with 
lower incomes and/or higher cost burdens.   
 
 Household Income By Householder Age Group  

OWNERS $0-20K $20-40K $40-60K $60-80K $80-100K > $100K Total 

20-29 3% 3% 14% 8% 13% 58% 100% 

30-54 1% 4% 8% 9% 12% 66% 100% 

55-64 2% 7% 7% 9% 17% 58% 100% 

65-79 7% 16% 16% 15% 11% 35% 100% 

80 + 18% 32% 21% 9% 6% 14% 100% 

RENTERS  

20-29 3% 18% 30% 24% 14% 11% 100% 

30-54 13% 14% 19% 14% 17% 23% 100% 

55-64 19% 13% 12% 12% 24% 20% 100% 

65-79 40% 29% 17% 7% 3% 5% 100% 

80 + 39% 40% 11% 7% 2% 1% 100% 
US Census  / PUMS Micro-Sample Data 

 

 Cost Burden by Householder Age Group  

OWNERS  Less than 30% 30% To 34% More Than 35% Total 

20-29  81% 6% 13% 100% 

30-54 82% 5% 12% 100% 

55-64 82% 4% 13% 100% 

65-79 72% 5% 23% 100% 

80 and older 56% 7% 36% 100% 

RENTERS     

20-29  57%  7% 36% 100% 

30-54 65% - 8% 27% 100% 

55-64 66% 5% 29% 100% 

65-79 42% 14% 44% 100% 

80 and older 34% 13% 53% 100% 
US Census  / PUMS Micro-Sample Data 

 
  

 

Older persons 
and house-
holds, espe-
cially those that 
are income con-
strained or cost-
burdened, may 
want the oppor-
tunity or choice 
to transition to 
less expensive 
housing ... 
 
 
 



 

12 
 

 
Lower Income Households - Housing costs can also pose a significant burden for 
low- and moderate-income households earning less than 80 percent of area me-
dian income (see income levels on page 9). 
 
As might be expected, lower income households are the most cost-burdened 
owners and renters.  It is not until incomes get above $60,000 per year that peo-
ple are in a position to be able to afford rents or mortgages without paying 
more than 30 percent of their income for housing. 
 

 Cost Burden By Household Income Group  

OWNER Less than 30% 30% To 34% More Than 35% Total 

$0 – $19,999 4% 3% 93% 100% 

$20 – $39,999 32% 10% 59% 100% 

$40 – $59,999 52% 12% 36% 100% 

$60 – $79,999 72% 10% 19% 100% 

$80 – $99,999 85% 7% 8% 100% 

$100,000 +  96% 2% 2% 100% 

RENTER     

$0 – $19,999 15% 11% 74% 100% 

$20 – $39,999 22% 6% 72% 100% 

$40 – $59,999 42% 26% 32% 100% 

$60 – $79,999 92% 5% 3% 100% 

$80 – $99,999 100% 0% 0% 100% 

$100,000 + 99% 1% 0% 100% 
US Census  / PUMS Micro-Sample Data 

 
  

 
ALICE Report 
 
In 2020, the United Way is-
sued an “ALICE” report on fi-
nancial hardships faced by 
people in Connecticut.  The 
term “ALICE” is an acronym 
for Asset Limited, Income 
Constrained, Employed. 
 
The report looks at the num-
ber of households struggling 
to afford life’s basic necessi-
ties due to income limita-
tions and/or expenses .  
 
The 2020 ALICE Report esti-
mated that 28 percent of the 
households in Newington fell 
below the ALICE threshold. 
 
https://alice.ctunited-
way.org/meet-alice-2/  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

13 
 

2.5. State-Defined Affordable Housing 
 
Overall, there are about 1,155 housing units in Newington which are assisted or 
restricted ins some way to remain affordable for some time (see sidebar), 
 
 Newington Share County State 

Government-Assisted  531 4.1% 7.4% 6.1% 

Tenant Rental Assistance 116 0.9% 4.0% 3.0% 

CHFA / USDA Mortgages  472 3.6% 2.8% 1.9% 

Deed-Restricted Units 36 0.3% 0.2% 0.4% 

Total  1,155 8.9% 14.4% 11.3% 
DOH Affordable Housing Appeals List (2019) 

 

Government-Assisted Units - Newington has 531 government-assisted units.  
Since government assisted units have been funded by government programs re-
lated to housing, Newington can be fairly comfortable that these units will con-
tinue to be affordable for the foreseeable future. 
 
Elderly + Disabled (214 units) #  Year Built 

Cedar Village (Housing Authority (NHA)) 40 312-316 Cedar Street 1981 

Edmund J. Kelleher Park (NHA) 40 241 West Hill Road 1976 

New Meadow Village (NHA) 26 1 Mill Street Ext. 1987 

Market Square  76 65 Constance Leigh Drive 1978 

Meadowview  32 50 Mill St. Ext.  

Family + Elderly (316 units)    

Griswold Hills 128 10 Griswold Hills Drive  

Victory Gardens 74 555 Willard Avenue  

Southfield Apartments 114 85 Faith Road  

Other (1 unit)    

Group Home   1 98 Cedar Street  
DOH Affordable Housing Database (2019) 

 
Tenant Rental Assistance Units – The locations of the tenants receiving tenant 
rental assistance are not disclosed.  The number and location of tenant rental 
assistance units can change over time since the assistance is provided to eligible 
people.  Over the past decade, Newington has had between 84 and 148 units.   
 
  

 
Overall, Newing-
ton has 1,155 
housing units that 
meet State crite-
ria for “affordable 
housing” … 
 
State statutes only consider 
housing which is encum-
bered in some way to sell or 
rent at affordable price lev-
els:  
 Governmentally assisted 

housing developments,  
 Rental units occupied by 

households receiving 
tenant rental assistance,  

 Ownership units fi-
nanced by government 
mortgages for low/mod-
erate income persons 
and families,  

 Housing units subject to 
deed restrictions limit-
ing the price to where 
persons or families 
earning eighty percent 
or less of the area me-
dian income pay thirty 
per cent or less of their 
income for housing. 

 
 
 
 



 

14 
 

CHFA/USDA Mortgages  – The locations of the units financed by CHFA/USDA 
mortgages are not disclosed.  The number and location of CHFA/USDA mortgage 
units can change over time since the assistance is provided to eligible people.  
Over the past decade or so, Newington has had between 366 and 472 units.   
 
Deed-Restricted Units –Newington has 36 deed-restricted units on Hopkins 
Drive and these units are restricted in perpetuity. 
 

Elderly / Disable Housing 
 

Cedar Village  Kellher Park  Meadow View 
  

 
Family Housing 

 
Southfield Apartments  Griswold Hills  Victory Gardens 

  

 
Deed-Restricted Housing 

 
Hoskins Ridge 

 
  



 

15 
 

The following chart compares the number of State-defined affordable housing 
units in Newington to some other Connecticut communities. 
 

Percent Affordable Compared To Number of Housing Units 

 
Number of Housing Units 

Planimetrics Based On DOH Affordable Housing Appeals List (2019) 

 
Similar # of Housing Units  % AH  Similar Affordable % # Units 
Branford 13,972 3.36%  Winchester 5,613 10.81% 
Vernon 13,896 16.86%  North Canaan 1,587 10.27% 
Glastonbury 13,656 5.72%  Windsor  5,429 9.82% 
Trumbull 13,157 4.68%  Wethersfield 11,677 9.45% 
Naugatuck 13,061 8.87%  Berlin 8,140 9.31% 
Newington 13,011 8.88%  Newington 13,011 8.88% 
East Haven 12,533 8.03%  Colchester 6,182 8.88% 
New London 11,840 22.83%  Naugatuck 13,061 8.87% 
Windsor 11,767 7.52%  Hamden 25,114 8.67% 
New Milford 11,731 4.59%  Portland 4,077 8.49% 
Wethersfield 11,677 9.45%  Brooklyn 3,235 8.28% 

Planimetrics Based On DOH Affordable Housing Appeals List (2019) 
 

 
  

Newington 



 

16 
 

 

2.6. Existing Zoning Regulations  
 
Newington has a regulatory framework embodied in the Zoning Regulations 
with a variety of provisions which can help meet housing needs: 
 
Section Description 

3.2.4 … rest homes, assisted living, senior independent living facilities, conva-
lescent or nursing homes, long term care facilities and continuing care 
retirement communities … [allowed in all zones by Special Permit] 
 

3.4.6 Group homes and community residences … [allowed in all residential 
zones by Special Permit] 
 

3.4.7 Conversion of large older residential homes to smaller residential units 
… [allowed in all residential zones by Special Permit] 
 

3.6.1  Two-family attached dwellings … [allowed in R-7 residential zone by Spe-
cial Permit] 
 

3.7.1 Patio houses, duplex houses, townhouses, or multi-family structures (up 
to 5.5 units / acre when at least 10 acres and on arterial road) … [al-
lowed in R-7 and R-12 residential zones by Special Permit] 
 

3.7.2 Affordable age-restricted housing for seniors sponsored by either the 
Newington Housing Authority, a non-profit developer, or a limited-profit 
developer for the health … up to 20 units / acre … [allowed in R-7 and R-
12 residential zones by Special Permit] 
 

3.7.3 Single-family entry-level housing … up to 5.8 units / acre … subject to a 
contract requiring the developer to abide by the income criteria as from 
time to time may be established … [allowed in R-7 and R-12 residential 
zones by Special Permit] 

(Clarification of income criteria should be considered)) 
 

3.9 Residential Designed (RD) zone … up to 3.5 units per acre … [allowed in 
R-D zone by Special Permit] 

3.13.1 Unrestricted multi-family residential buildings (and mixed-use buildings) 
in the Town Center zone … up to 60 units/acre for elderly or affordable 
and 17.4 units/acre otherwise … [allowed in B-TC zone by Special Per-
mit] 

(Proposed for modification elsewhere in this report) 
 

  
(continued on next page) 

 
 
  



 

17 
 

Section Description (continued) 

  
(continued from previous page) 

 

3.19.2 Residential building (and mixed-use buildings) … up to 9.7 units/acre [al-
lowed in PD zone on Berlin Turnpike by Special Permit] 
 

(Proposed for modification elsewhere in this report) 
 

3.19.A Mixed use development (including housing) in the area near the West 
Cedar Street Fastrak Station 
 

(Proposed for modification elsewhere in this report) 
 

3.26 Workforce Assisted Housing District for a site-specific affordable hous-
ing development on Cedar Street 
 

6.12  Allows multi-family use within existing structures in the Willard Avenue 
Development District [allowed by Special Permit] 
 

6.13 Allows accessory apartments [allowed in R-12 and R-20 zone by Special 
Permit] 
 

(Proposed for modification elsewhere in this report) 
 

6.14 The use of a “residual lot” for a single-family house [allowed by Special 
Permit] 
 

 
 
  



 

18 
 

2.7. Summary Of Findings 
 
1. About 2/3rds of all housing units in Newington are single-family detached 

homes and while such homes meet the housing needs of many people, they 
do meet the housing needs of all present or future Newington residents. 

 
2. More than half of all housing units in Newington were built before 1970 and 

may not reflect housing needs of today or the future. 
 
3. Newington’s population is growing, and more housing units may be needed.  
 
4. Newington’s age composition is changing with more older residents (with 

different housing needs) than ever before.   
 
5. With smaller household sizes, people may want smaller (or less expensive) 

units than were built in the past. 
 
6. Newington has thousands of rental and ownership units naturally affordable 

to persons earning 80% or less of the area median income.   
 
7. Even so, almost 3,500 Newington households are considered cost burdened 

because they are spending more than 30 percent of their income on hous-
ing – this includes a number of elderly households and low- and moderate-
income households. 

 
8. Overall, Newington has 1,155 housing units that meet State criteria for “af-

fordable housing.”  
 
9. Older households, especially those who are income constrained or cost-bur-

dened, may want the ability to transition to less expensive housing.   
 
10. There is a two-year waiting period for elderly households who may need an 

affordable unit now. 
 
11. Since there are not enough units for elderly households who seek subsidized 

housing, providing services for residents who want to “age-in-place” will be 
important. 

 
12. Newington Interfaith Housing offers housing for low- and moderate-income 

families but the Housing Authority only offers rental vouchers and the de-
mand far outstrips the supply. 

 
13.  Since most land in Newington is already developed, the community will 

need to be creative to find ways to address housing needs. 
 
  



 

19 
 

 
 
 

STRATEGIES  

 

3. Strategies 
 
Affordable Housing Plan strategies are presented in the chapter.  Additional in-
formation (such as potential regulation changes or other relevant material) is 
contained in a separate technical document.  For the implementation tables, a 
“legend” for the designated “leaders” and “partners” is located on the inside 
back cover.  
 

3.1. Encourage Housing Meeting Community Goals 
 
Newington prefers that future housing in Newington be built in places and ways 
which are consistent with the community’s overall vision for future growth as 
expressed in the 2020-30 Plan of Conservation and Development (POCD).  Natu-
rally, this includes housing development and, in particular, housing that is set 
aside to meet identified local housing needs: 

 Housing for an aging population, 
 Housing For low- and moderate-income households. 

 
3.1.1. Support Development Of Mixed-Use Nodes With A “Sense Of Place” 
 
The 2020 POCD identified four key opportunity areas in Newington and recom-
mended mixed use, pedestrian-friendly, and transit-oriented development and 
redevelopment at these locations: 

 Town Center, 
 Future Train Station, 
 Cedar Street Fastrak Station, and 
 Newington Junction Fastrak Station. 

 
For all of these locations it is recommended that regulations requiring at least 
10% of the residential units be set aside for persons and families earning 80% or 
less of the area median income be adopted or retained.   
 
  



 

20 
 

ENCOURAGE HOUSING MEETING COMMUNITY GOALS  
Support Development Of Mixed-Use Nodes With A “Sense Of Place”  

Leader  
Partners 

1. Overall - Encourage development (and redevelopment) which 
will help accomplish Newington’s overall community develop-
ment goals (including housing) as recommended in the 2020-
30 POCD.   

 

Town 
TC 

TPZ 

2. Newington Center - Following a community-driven design 
process, adopt regulations for Newington Center that: 
a. Implement the overall vision for Newington Center,  
b. Rename the zone from “Business – Town Center” to just 

“Town Center” or something similar, 
c. Allow for more flexibility (height, setbacks, coverage, etc. 

to help create a mixed use, pedestrian-friendly, and 
transit-oriented node), and 

d. Require the set aside of at least 10% of new housing 
units for low- and moderate-income households. 

 

TPZ 
TC 

Public 
Owners 

3. Train Station / Transit Village - Following a community-driven 
design process, revise the Transit Village Design District regu-
lations to: 
a. Implement the overall vision for the train station area, 

and 
b. Maintain the requirement that at least 10% of new hous-

ing units be set aside for low- and moderate-income 
households. 

 

TPZ 
TC 

Public 
Owners 

4. West Cedar Street Fastrak – Revise the TOD Overlay District 
for possible changes to Section 3.19.A) to: 
a. Allow for consideration of a residential development (in 

addition to a mixed-use development) within the overlay 
zone area, and  

b. Require the set aside of at least 10% of new housing 
units for low- and moderate-income households. 

 

TPZ 
 

5. Newington Junction Fastrak - Following a community-driven 
design process, establish an “overlay zone” for the Newington 
Junction Fastrak area which: 
a. Implements the overall vision for the area, and 
b. Requires that at least 10% of new housing units be set 

aside for low- and moderate-income households. 
 

TPZ 
TC 

Public 
Owners 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
  



C
hurch

S
t

Fe
nn

 R
d

M
a

in
 S

t

E
Cedar St

M
a

p
le

 H
ill

 A
v
e

Robbins Ave

Kelsey St

Stoddard Ave

Griswoldville Ave

¬«287

¬«176

¬«173

¬«175

¬«9

¬«174

£¤5

")Y

")Z

")1
")2

")4

")5

")3

")6

")7

")D

")A

")C

")B

Hartford

Wethersfield

N
e
w

 B
ri
ta

in

Rocky Hill

Berlin

West Hartford

Opportunity Sites
Newington, CT

$ 3,000 Feet

Codes:
B = Business

I = Industrial

M = Mixed Use

O = Office

P = Public / Private Institution

R = Residential

T = Transitions

(Generally mixed use, pedestrian-

friendly, and transit oriented)

A = Town Center (M)

B = Future Train Station (M)

C = Cedar Street Fastrak Station (M)

D = Newington Junction (M)

Y = Berlin Turnpike (B/I/O/P)

Z = Town Center East (B/M/O/P/R)

1 = Day Street (B/I/M/R)

2 = North Mountain Road (I/O)

3 = Alumni Road (B/I/O/P)

4 = Cedarcrest Hospital (O/P/R)

5 = East Cedar Street (B/O/R)

6 = Willard Avenue (O/P/R)

7 = Kelsey Street (B/O/I)

Core Area / Walk Radius

Fringe Area / Walk Radius

Key Opportunity Area

Opportunity Site

Special Opportunity Area

53



 

22 
 

3.1.2. Encourage Redevelopment With Housing Where Appropriate  
 
The 2020 POCD identified additional opportunity areas and sites in Newington 
for appropriate development and redevelopment to be encouraged: 

 Berlin Turnpike,  
 Town Center East, and 
 Specific opportunity sites (shown in blue on the POCD map). 

 
Existing regulations allowing housing in the PD zone should be extended to the 
B-BT zone.  New regulations should be crafted for Town Center East based on a 
community-driven planning process.   
 
Any development or redevelopment in these areas which includes housing 
should set aside at least 10% of the residential units for low- to moderate-in-
come households.   
 
ENCOURAGE HOUSING MEETING COMMUNITY GOALS  
Encourage Redevelopment With Housing Where Appropriate  

Leader  
Partners 

1. Berlin Turnpike – Planned Development District - Modify 
Section 3.19.2 of the Zoning Regulations for the Planned De-
velopment (PD) district to require the set aside of at least 
10% of new housing units for low- and moderate-income 
households. 

 

TPZ 
 

2. Berlin Turnpike – B-BT District - Modify Section 3.15 of the 
Zoning Regulations for the Business – Berlin Turnpike (B-BT) 
district to allow residential uses by Special Permit (same as 
the PD District) and to require the set aside of at least 10% of 
new housing units for low- and moderate-income house-
holds. 

 

TPZ 
 

3. Town Center East - Following a community-driven design pro-
cess involving major property owners, consider modifying the 
Zoning Regulations for the Town Center East area to: 
a. Implement the overall vision for the area to integrate it 

into (and help strengthen) the Town Center area, and 
b. Require that at least 10% of new housing units be set 

aside for low- and moderate-income households. 
 

TPZ 
TC 

Owners 
Public 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
 
  



 

23 
 

3.1.3. Promote Other Development Goals 
 
Adopt Design Guidelines - Since the design of higher density residential devel-
opment is critical to its assimilation into the community, this Affordable Housing 
Plan recommends that Newington prepare design guidelines for such develop-
ments (these may arise out of the community-driven planning processes recom-
mended in the POCD).  Design guidelines adopted by other communities can 
provide some guidance for Newington. 
 
Preserve Stable Areas - Although this Affordable Housing Plan promotes devel-
opment and redevelopment in the areas identified in the POCD, it is also im-
portant to note that the Town will continue to strive to: 

 Preserve industrial zones for technology / employment in order to pro-
vide jobs, provide for goods and services, and enhance the tax base, and 

 Preserve the character and integrity of single-family residential neigh-
borhoods 

 
Support Bus Transit – Newington is fortunate to have a reasonable bus transit 
system which supports local residents and employers.  The Affordable Housing 
Plan recommends that Newington continue to support the bus transit system.  
 
ENCOURAGE HOUSING MEETING COMMUNITY GOALS  
Promote Other Development Goals  

Leader  
Partners 

1. Prepare Design Guidelines - Prepare design guidelines for 
higher density residential developments in order to help 
them fit into the overall character of Newington. 

 

TPZ 
 

2. Enable Village Districts - Consider designating the following 
areas as “village districts” (per CGS Section 8-2j) or modifying 
the existing provisions in the Zoning Regulations in order to 
have design control over development in these areas: 
a. Town Center / Town Center East. 
b. Train station,  
c. Fastrak stations (Cedar Street / Newington Junction), and 

 

TPZ 
 

3. Preserve industrial zones for technology uses in order to pro-
vide jobs, provide for goods and services, and enhance the 
tax base. 

 

TPZ 
ED 

4. Preserve the character and integrity of single-family residen-
tial neighborhoods. 

 

TPZ 
 

5. Support the bus transit system. Town 
 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

NEWINGTON 
Design Guidelines 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 

24 
 

3.1.4. Earn An Exemption From CGS 8-30g 
 
Section 8-30g of the Connecticut General Statutes (CGS) provides that certain 
developments where more  than 30 percent of the units are restricted as afford-
able housing may not have to comply with local Zoning Regulations.  This provi-
sion applies to Newington and other communities where less than 10% of the 
housing stock meets the State criteria (government assisted, tenant rental assis-
tance, CHFA/USDA mortgages, or deed-restricted to affordable prices). 
 
It is Newington’s strong desire to encourage and enable development that 
meets the overall development goals of the community in compliance with lo-
cal Zoning Regulations.  Newington’s Zoning Regulations already allow for hous-
ing choice and opportunity and will continue to do so in the future. 
 
Newington prefers that development in the community occur with input, feed-
back, and guidance from the community.  Development proposed in accordance 
with CGS Section 8-30g may not be consistent with that preference or may even 
be in conflict with local development goals. 
 
As a result, Newington may seek to earn a moratorium or exemption from CGS 
8-30g in the future.  The purpose for doing so would be to guide development 
to places where the community wants it and where it will meet overall develop-
ment goals rather than have higher density development not consistent with 
overall development goals. 
 
ENCOURAGE HOUSING MEETING COMMUNITY GOALS  
Consider Seeking Exemption From CGS 8-30G  

Leader  
Partners 

1. Consider seeking a moratorium or exemption from CGS 8-30g 
so that housing development will support Newington’s over-
all development goals, be in accordance with local Zoning 
Regulations, and will be responsive to community input, feed-
back, and guidance. 

 

TC 
TPZ 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
  



 

25 
 

3.2. Adopt Inclusionary Zoning Provisions 
 
CGS Section 8-2i allows a zoning commission to establish almost any regulation, 
requirement or condition which promotes the development of housing afforda-
ble to persons and families of low and moderate income including but not lim-
ited to: 

 the setting aside of a reasonable number of housing units for long-term 
retention as affordable housing through deed restrictions or other 
means,  

 the use of density bonuses, or  
 in lieu of or in addition to such other requirements or conditions, the 

making of payments into a housing trust fund to be used for construct-
ing, rehabilitating, or repairing housing affordable to persons and fami-
lies of low and moderate income. 

 
Some communities have adopted provisions related to: 

 Mandatory set-aside of units as part of any residential development, 
 A fee-in-lieu-of affordable-housing, and/or 
 An inclusionary zoning fee. 

 
Newington may consider adopting similar provisions.  Newington could also 
consider other approaches including allowing a developer to purchase a reason-
ably similar existing unit (including a “naturally occurring affordable unit) and 
deed-restricting it to sell or rent at an affordable price in accordance with CGS 
Section 8-30g. 
 
ADOPT INCLUSIONARY ZONING PROVISIONS  
Adopt Inclusionary Zoning Provisions 

Leader  
Partners 

1. Consider adopting inclusionary zoning requirements which 
will promote the development of housing affordable to per-
sons and families of low and moderate income  

 

TPZ 
TC 

 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
 
 
 
  



 

26 
 

3.3. Address Housing Needs Of An Aging Population 
 
As Newington’s population grows, the age composition is also changing and the 
number of residents in the older age groups is increasing.  With increasing life 
expectancy, the number of elderly residents (and the share of the population 
which is over age 65) in Newington is expected to continue well into the future. 
 
The housing needs of older households are different than younger households 
in a number of ways: 

 Older households tend to be smaller, 
 Older households may have lower income levels, 
 Older households may find themselves housing cost burdened, 
 Older households may to have more disabilities or impairments which 

affect their quality of life and capabilities, and 
 Older households are less able to maintain the interior (and exterior) of 

their homes. 
 

 

 
 

“Transitional” Housing 
 
For people with adequate income and/or assets, housing that incorporates 
age-friendly characteristics (such as one floor living, no step entry, wide door-
ways, lever door handles, bathroom grab bars, loop drawer handles, higher 
electric outlets, lower electric switches, etc.) will help them make the transi-
tion to housing which will meet their needs over a lifetime. 

 
 
  

 

Elderly house-
holds have spe-
cial housing 
needs and the 
number of el-
derly persons is 
increasing … 
 
 
 
 



 

27 
 

3.3.1. Expand The Number Of Low-Income Elderly Units 
 
Although there are 214 elderly housing units in Newington at the present time 
(106 managed by the Newington Housing Authority and 108 managed by other 
entities), it is not enough to meet the growing need.  Most units were built in 
the 1970s and 1980s.  
 
According to the Newington Housing Authority, there are currently about 150 
people on the waiting list for an elderly housing unit in Newington and the esti-
mate is that it might be two years before a unit becomes available.  The waiting 
period at local elderly housing developments not managed by the Housing Au-
thority may be even longer. 
 
This is an issue because people and families often find themselves in situations 
where they need alternative housing at that time.  When an elderly person or 
couple gets to the point that they realize they need lower cost housing they can 
afford, it can be heart-breaking to learn that there is a two-year waiting period 
(or more) before a unit may be available.  Simply, there are not enough units to 
meet the current demand for elderly housing. 
 
It is anticipated that the lack of elderly housing units will get worse over time 
since the number of elderly residents is expected to increase in the future.  Im-
provements in healthcare and lifestyles have increased life expectancies and 
people may outlive their financial resources.    
 
If no units are added, the wait times will get even longer and elderly people who 
need housing assistance will struggle to make ends meet. 
 

 

Need For Elderly Housing Units 
 
In terms of housing for low income elderly persons, Newington has several 
developments to help address this need.  However, more units are needed 
since: 

 The elderly population is expected to continue to increase,  
 Over the years, some of the units built for elderly have been repur-

posed for disabled persons so there are actually fewer elderly units 
than there were when the developments were built, and 

 There is a long waiting period for people who want or need a unit. 
 

 
 
  

 

There is a two-
year waiting 
period for el-
derly house-
holds who may 
need an afford-
able unit now ... 
 
 
 
 



 

28 
 

The only way to address the housing need for the lowest income elderly is to 
build subsidized elderly housing using State of Federal funding programs.  
Newington should start the process of working with State and/or Federal agen-
cies to get funding to add more elderly housing units. 
 
Of course, land is typically the biggest challenge for initiating a project such as 
this.  In Newington, the following sites may have some potential for supporting 
the development of additional elderly housing units in Newington: 
 
ADDRESS HOUSING NEEDS OF AN AGING POPULATION 
Expand The Number Of Low-Income Elderly Units 

Leader  
Partners 

1. Obtain Land –  
a. Obtain and dedicate land in Newington  for development 

of additional elderly housing units. 
b. Seek to acquire surplus State-owned parcels (or facilities) 

for affordable elderly housing 
 

 
Town 
NHA 

2. Start The Process - Start the process of working with State 
and/or Federal agencies to get funding to add more elderly 
housing units. 

 

Town 
NHA 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
     

Elderly Couples  Seniors  Long-Time Residents 
  

 
 
 
  

 
Possible Sites 
 
Cedarcrest Hospital Site 
Russell Road 
 
I-291 ROW  
 Maple Hill Avenue  
 New Britain Avenue 
 Willard Avenue 
 
Excess Town Land  
 
Underused School Building 
(Public or Parochial) 
 
Day Street area 
 
Other Site(s) 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

29 
 

3.3.2. Support Older People Choosing To Age In Place  
 
Data from AARP suggests that about 80% of older residents would prefer to age 
in place in their current residence.  While there can be challenges to accom-
plishing this, the Town may be in a position to help people do this for as long as 
possible since some housing options may not be ready for some time. 
 
Housing Issues Facing Older Homeowners Choosing To Age In Place  - Older 
homeowners choosing to age in place may present some unique challenges and 
opportunities since they may be income-constrained but have some equity in 
their home. 
 
1. Cost of homeownership may place stress on a fixed income -  

a. Town can maintain property tax relief. 
b. Town can enhance property tax relief. 
c. Town could offer enhanced tax relief for deed restriction or equity 

share. 
 
2. House is not configured well for independent older occupants - Zoning Reg-

ulations could be modified to allow for one-story addition closer to property 
line provided it included an accessible full bath and another room that could 
be configured as a bedroom. 

 
3. Homeowner desires assistance / companionship / income supplement -  

a. Zoning Regulations Section 6.13 could be modified to allow for an acces-
sory apartment (within or attached) by Zoning Permit (rather than TPZ 
approval) in some or all residential zones provided it was owner-occu-
pied and included an operable door on a common wall and common 
water, sewer, gas, and electric service.   

b. Under conditions spelled out in CGS Section 8-30g(k), accessory apart-
ments can count as deed-restricted units when: 
 legally approved  
 restricted for 10 or more years to a rent affordable at 80% or less of 

area median income. 
c. Although Newington opted out of allowing them, the Zoning Regula-

tions could allow for a temporary detached accessory structure (per CGS 
8-1bb) sometimes favored by people caring for their parents provided 
the property was owner-occupied. 

 
Housing Issues Facing Older Renters Choosing To Age In Place   - Older renters 
tend to be income-constrained and asset-limited.  If they are struggling to afford 
their current rental, they may need to investigate a less expensive option.   For 
eligible low-income renters (including the elderly) earning less than $45,000 per 
year, the State offers a rent rebate program of up to $900 per year, 
 
  



 

30 
 

Services For Older Residents Generally Choosing To Age In Place   -For older 
people who have or can find an affordable and appropriate place to live, the 
support programs below will help them support their overall quality of life as 
they age-in-place until such time as they need to investigate other housing op-
tions:   

 Maintaining senior center / recreation programs (social, recreational, 
health screening, life coaching, etc.), 

 Maintaining hot lunch / meals-on-wheels, 
 Maintaining dial-a-ride / transportation for seniors, 
 Maintaining visiting nurse services for seniors, 
 Helping seniors with handyman and other useful services. 

 
ADDRESS HOUSING NEEDS OF AN AGING POPULATION 
Support Older People Choosing To Age In Place  

Leader  
Partners 

1. Continue Tax Relief – Maintain / improve /enhance existing 
elderly tax relief programs that support elderly residents de-
sire to age in place. 

 

Town 
 

2. Allow Flexibility For Aging-Appropriate Renovations – Con-
sider modifying the Zoning Regulations to allow for one-story 
addition closer to property line provided it included an acces-
sible full bath and another room that could be configured as a 
bedroom. 

 

TPZ 
 

3. Facilitate Accessory Apartment –  
a. Simplify the Zoning Regulations for an accessory apart-

ment and consider allowing by Zoning Permit (when 
within or attached) in some or all residential zones pro-
vided it was owner-occupied and included an operable 
door on a common wall and common water, sewer, gas, 
and electric service. 

b. Consider modifying the Zoning Regulations to allow for 
an accessory apartment deed-restricted to sell at an af-
fordable price level for at least 10 years. 

 

TPZ 
 

4. Allow For Temporary “Granny Pods” – Consider “opting in” 
to the State statute (CGS Section 8-1bb) enabling a temporary 
detached accessory structure sometimes favored by people 
caring for their parents provided the property was owner-oc-
cupied. 

 

TC 
TPZ 

5. Maintain Local Programs - Maintain / improve /enhance pro-
grams that support elderly residents desire to age in place. 

 

Town 
 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
  



 

31 
 

3.4. Address Needs Of Lower Income Households 
 
There is a need in Newington and the region to increase the housing opportuni-
ties for people and families with low to moderate incomes. 
 
3.4.1. Seek Opportunities To Create Affordable “Family” Rental Units 
 
As indicated previously, there are 316 “family” housing units (not limited to oc-
cupancy by the elderly or disabled) in Newington at the present time.  These 
units are managed and operated by private and non-profit entities (none are 
managed by the Newington Housing Authority).  There is strong demand for 
these units and waiting times can be lengthy. 
 
If land were available (see the listing of possible sites for consideration on the 
sidebar on page 28), Newington could start the process of working with State 
and/or Federal agencies to seek development and construction funding to add 
more family housing units.  This process could be led by the Housing Authority 
or a non-profit entity (as was done with Newington Interfaith Housing for South-
field Apartments). 
 
ADDRESS HOUSING NEEDS OF LOWER INCOME HOUSEHOLDS  
Seek Opportunities To Create Affordable “Family” Rental Units 

Leader  
Partners 

1. Obtain Land –  
a. Obtain and dedicate land in Newington  for development 

of additional “family” housing units not restricted to el-
derly/ disabled persons. 

b. Seek to acquire surplus State-owned parcels (or facilities) 
for affordable “family” housing. 

 

Town 
NHA 
IHC 

2. Start The Process - Start the process of working with State 
and/or Federal agencies to get funding to add more “family” 
housing units not restricted to elderly/disabled persons. 

 

Town 
NHA 
IHC 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
 

Need For Family Housing Units 
 
It is important to note that the Housing Authority receives the most phone 
calls for family units (even though they basically only have elderly units).  The 
Housing Authority offers some housing “vouchers” for family units, but the 
waiting list has about 250 people on it.  With vouchers issued on the basis of 
a lottery system, some people may never get a voucher or may need to wait 
8-10 years. 
 

  



 

32 
 

3.4.2. Promote Rental Assistance Programs 
 
Until a site becomes available to build family units in the community, Newington 
should continue to use State and Federal “tenant rental assistance” programs to 
help low- and moderate-income households meet their housing needs.  There 
are two types of rental assistance programs: 

 “Tenant-based” where a household is admitted to the program and, 
upon finding an appropriate rental unit, pays a percentage of their in-
come for the unit and the State or Federal government pays the remain-
der.  The tenant keeps the voucher when they change apartments, in-
cluding relocating to other communities. 

 “Project-based” where units in a development are reserved for low- and 
moderate-income households and an eligible tenant pays a percentage 
of their income for the unit and the State or Federal government pays 
the remainder.  The property keeps the voucher when a tenant departs.  

 
Newington is credited with 116 tenant rental assistance units in the community.  
Since the Housing Authority has 30 vouchers (managed by Imagineers), there 
are 86 additional vouchers being used in Newington (either tenant-based or 
project-based).  Newington should continue to support and promote the rental 
assistance programs to help meet the housing needs of low- and moderate-in-
come households, often using the existing housing stock. 
 
ADDRESS HOUSING NEEDS OF LOWER INCOME HOUSEHOLDS  
Promote Rental Assistance Programs  

Leader  
Partners 

1. Continue to support and promote rental assistance programs 
(tenant-based and project-based) to help meet the housing 
needs of low- and moderate-income households. 

 

Town 
SS 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
Young People  Young Families  Service Workers 

  

 
 
 
 
  



 

33 
 

3.4.3. Help Support Ownership Assistance Programs 
 
In the history of America, homeownership has been a pathway to prosperity for 
many households.  Newington is no different.  Whether someone is trying to get 
on or climb “the housing ladder” (or trying to downsize and move down “the 
housing ladder”), Newington can be a part of that journey. 
 
Due to the extensive stock of “naturally occurring affordable housing” (both 
rental and ownership) in Newington, most people (including many low- and 
moderate-income households) are able to afford housing here for wherever 
they may want to be on the housing ladder. 
 
Support Home Purchases - For low- and moderate-income households seeking 
to purchase housing in Newington, they may be able to obtain financing from 
the Connecticut Housing Finance Authority (CHFA) or the United States Depart-
ment of Agriculture (USDA) though programs that have mortgage programs for 
low- and moderate-income households. 
 
As indicated previously, there are 472 housing units in Newington where low- 
and moderate-income households received CHFA/USDA mortgages.  Newington 
should continue to support and promote these mortgage assistance programs 
to help meet the housing needs of low- and moderate-income households, of-
ten using the existing housing stock.  Newington should consider publicizing this 
better so that people are aware of this opportunity to live in Newington. 
 

 

 

 
 
 
  



 

34 
 

Support Creation Of New Units – Newington has acquired some residentially-
zoned parcels which are surplus to its needs.  Newington could partner with 
Habitat For Humanity (or other non-profit organization) to build affordable 
homes on Town-owned lots (rental units could also be considered). 
 
Support Home Maintenance – In some situations, low- and moderate-income 
households may struggle with housing maintenance / rehabilitation due to the 
tightness of their finances.  Newington currently uses Small Cities funding to as-
sist low- and moderate-income households with maintenance and housing reha-
bilitation.  This program should continue. 
 
In addition, if Newington were able to find a way to promote a “community 
maintenance corps” of volunteers that could be available to help low-and mod-
erate-income homeowners maintain and improve their properties, it might pay 
some considerable dividends. 
 
ADDRESS HOUSING NEEDS OF LOWER INCOME HOUSEHOLDS  
Help Support Ownership Assistance Programs 

Leader  
Partners 

1. Promote Ownership Assistance Programs -   
a. Continue to support and promote the CHFA/USDA mort-

gage assistance programs to help meet the housing 
needs of low- and moderate-income households. 

b. Promote the CHFA/USDA mortgage assistance programs 
so that people are aware of this opportunity to live in 
Newington. 

 

Town 
SS 

2. Support Home Construction – Consider partnering with Habi-
tat For Humanity (or other non-profit organization) to build 
affordable homes on Town-owned lots (rental units could 
also be considered). 

 

TC 
 

3. Support Home Maintenance / Rehabilitation –  
a. Continue to use Small Cities funding to assist low- and 

moderate-income households with maintenance and 
housing rehabilitation.   

b. Investigate ways to promote a “community maintenance 
corps” of volunteers that could be available to help low-
and moderate-income homeowners maintain and im-
prove their properties. 

 

Town 
SS 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
  



 

35 
 

3.5. Consider Other Housing Configurations  
 
Some areas around the country are considering making provision for “missing 
middle” housing and this concept may have some applicability in Newington.   
 
Newington should explore the concept of enabling certain housing types in and 
near the mixed-use nodes recommended in the 2020-30 POCD: 

 Duplex units 
 Triplex and/or fourplex units 
 Courtyard apartments 
 Bungalow courts / cottage courts 
 Townhouse development 
 Multiplex housing 
 Live/work units 

 
“Missing Middle” Housing 

 
 
CONSIDER OTHER HOUSING CONFIGURATIONS  
Consider Other Housing Configurations 

Leader Part-
ners 

1. Explore the concept of enabling certain housing types in and 
near the mixed-use nodes recommended in the 2020-30 
POCD. 

 

TPZ 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
  

 
“Missing Middle” Explained 
 
The term “missing middle” 
refers to housing types that 
fall between single-family 
residential homes and larger 
scale multi-family projects.   
 
Historically, this type of 
housing supported pedes-
trian-friendly and transit-ori-
ented development which 
helped diversify housing op-
tions and choices while con-
tributing to a “sense of 
place” in neighborhoods. 
 
Such units were also gener-
ally more affordable than 
other housing types. 
 
 
 
 



 

36 
 

3.6. Help Address Special Housing Needs  
 
Disabled / Special Needs Housing - The housing needs of disabled / special 
needs persons (physical, mental, developmental disabilities, transition, etc.) 
may be met in several ways (see sidebar).  Newington permits all of these hous-
ing options (including reasonable accommodations) and the need for additional 
provisions is not apparent at this time. 
 
Transient Lodging - Some motels along the Berlin Turnpike are being used as 
residences for people who do not have (or do not choose) other housing op-
tions.  The Town has established a multi-department task force which continues 
to work on addressing these issues.  Redevelopment of these sites along the 
Berlin Turnpike is already allowed and encouraged (see page 22).  The need for 
additional provisions is not apparent at this time. 
 
Homeless / Emergency Shelter - The Police Department coordinates with the 
Human Services Department whenever there is an issue in Newington related to 
homelessness, domestic crisis, or similar interventional situation.  Regionally, 
there is not enough capacity to address the need, especially during colder 
weather.  Newington continues to work on addressing this situation in the 
short-term (finding a safe place when needed) and the long-term (helping ad-
dress regional needs).  The need for additional provisions is not apparent at this 
time. 
 
HELP ADDRESS SPECIAL HOUSING NEEDS 
Help Address Special Housing Needs 

Leader 
Partners 

1. Disabled / Special Needs – Continue to allow for a variety of living 
arrangements for disabled and special need persons. 

 

Town 
TPZ 

2. Transient Lodging – Continue to investigate ways to address the 
use of transient lodging facilities for housing. 

 

Town 
TLTF 

3. Homeless / Emergency Shelter – Continue to address the special 
needs of homeless people and people in crisis situations. 

 

Town 
SS 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
 
  

 
Special Needs Housing 
 
 Living independently  
 Living with assistance 

from family or caregiv-
ers 

 Living independently in 
elderly / disabled hous-
ing  

 Living in a group home / 
community residence 

 Living in a specialized fa-
cility (assisted living, 
etc.) 

 
 
Group Homes 
 
Data from the State of Con-
necticut indicates that there 
are presently 11 group 
homes in Newington with a 
capacity to serve up to 55 
residents. 
 
State statutes (CGS Section 
8-3(e)) provide that local 
zoning regulations cannot 
treated such housing differ-
ently than a single-family 
home. 
 



 

37 
 

3.7. Retain Existing Housing That Addresses Needs 
 
Newington wants to retain the existing “naturally occurring affordable housing” 
that exists.  As indicated previously, Newington has a diverse housing stock 
which includes: 

 A wide variety of rental units at different price levels,  
 A wide variety of ownership units (single-family houses, 2-4-family 

buildings, and condominiums) at different price levels, and 
 A variety of other types of housing to meet special needs (elderly, con-

gregate care, assisted living, nursing homes, etc.). 
 
These housing units help make Newington a place where many people can find 
housing they want and can afford at all stages of their life.  In addition, thou-
sands of these units are affordable to low- and moderate-income households. 
 
This diversity of housing choices is a strength of Newington and it is the commu-
nity’s desire to maintain this diversity and the “naturally occurring affordable 
housing” that exists. 
 

Cape Cod Style  Townhouse Condominium  Apartment 
  

 
RETAIN EXISTING HOUSING THAT MEETS NEEDS  
Retain Existing Housing That Meets Needs 

Leader  
Partners 

1. Seek to retain existing “naturally occurring affordable hous-
ing” in Newington which is effective at meeting housing 
needs of a variety of households.   

 

Town 
TC 

TPZ 
 

2. Maintain / improve existing Zoning Regulations that allow 
housing diversity. 

 

TPZ 
 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
 
  



 

38 
 

3.8. Address Other Housing Issues 
 
3.8.1. Enhance Local Framework / Capacity  
 
Increase Capacity Of Housing Authority - When additional units are added to 
the Housing Authority portfolio, it is unlikely the part-time staff will be able to 
keep up with the additional responsibilities.   Newington should:  

 Anticipate the need to have some full-time Housing Authority staffing 
(administrative, and/or maintenance) to manage more units, and 

 Supplement the part-time staff with technical assistance for develop-
ment / expansion planning. 

 
Prepare And Adopt A “Model Housing Affordability Plan” - With additional 
deed-restricted housing units anticipated in the future to be provided by devel-
opers, Newington should prepare a “model housing affordability plan.” Such a 
plan specifies how deed-restricted affordable housing units will be managed in 
accordance with local, State, and Federal requirements related to income eligi-
bility, rental rates, sale prices, and similar requirements.  If the Town does not 
have a model plan, each development will prepare their own (or ignore the re-
quirement entirely) and this may become an administrative nightmare.   
 
Identify A Housing Affordability Administrator -  Newington should consider 
who will be the party responsible for overseeing the sale/ rental of deed-re-
stricted affordable housing units in accordance with local, state, and federal re-
quirements.   
 
ADDRESS OTHER HOUSING ISSUES  
Enhance Local Framework / Capacity 

Leader  
Partners 

1. Increase Capacity Of Housing Authority -   
a. Anticipate the need to have full-time Housing Authority 

staffing (management, administrative, and/or mainte-
nance) to manage more units. 

b. Supplement the part-time Housing Authority staff with 
technical assistance for planning the development / ex-
pansion of Housing Authority developments. 

 

Town 
TC 

NHA 

2. Adopt A Model Housing Affordability Plan – Prepare a 
“model housing affordability plan.”.   

 

TPZ 

3. Identify A Housing Affordability Administrator - Designate 
who will be the Housing Administrator to oversee the sale/ 
rental of deed-restricted affordable housing units in accord-
ance with local, state, and federal requirements. 

 

Town 
TC 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Affordability Administrator 
 
The Town Planner oversees 
the 36 deed-restricted units 
in Newington currently and 
this arrangement may con-
tinue to work best.   
 
Alternatively, the responsibil-
ity could be delegated to an-
other entity.  For example, 
the Housing Authority may 
have experience with income 
verification and housing pro-
grams.   
 
Some towns use a third-party 
consultant to provide these 
services and Newington 
could consider the same ap-
proach. 
 
 



 

39 
 

3.8.2. Establish A Housing Trust Fund  
 
In order to accumulate funds to help support housing-related initiatives, 
Newington should consider establishing a Housing Trust Fund.  This account 
could be funded by:  

 The Town Council as part of the annual budget, 
 Payments made as part of any inclusionary zoning provision, 
 Grants from outside sources or donations by residents, and/or 
 Other sources 

 
ADDRESS OTHER HOUSING ISSUES  
Establish A Housing Trust Fund 

Leader  
Partners 

1. Establish A Housing Trust Fund – Consider establishing a 
Housing Trust Fund to accumulate funds to help support 
housing-related initiatives.   

 

Town 
TC 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
3.8.3. Right-Size Parking Requirements  
 
Parking areas consume considerable land area (that could be used for tax-pay-
ing uses) and parking requirements can be a major impediment to development 
yields.  Newington might consider modifying the parking standards in the fol-
lowing situations: 

 Allow 1.0 or 1.5 parking spaces per studio or one-bedroom unit to re-
flect the smaller household sizes which are prevalent these days, 

 Allow a reduction of parking requirements (perhaps by 25% to 50%) in 
areas within ¼-mile of a train station or Fastrak station (a developer 
could choose to install more parking if they wished). 

 
It is worth noting that Section 6.1 of the Zoning Regulations already provides for 
a 25% reduction in the number of parking spaces for a multi-family unit located 
in the Town Center (1.5 spaces per unit) versus one located in another zoning 
district in Newington (2.0 spaces per unit). 
 
ADDRESS OTHER HOUSING ISSUES  
Right-Size Parking Requirements 

Leader  
Partners 

1. Right-Size Parking Requirements – Consider modifying the 
parking standards to require fewer spaces for small units and 
allow a parking reduction in areas near to transit stations.   

TPZ 

 Legend on inside 
back cover 

 
  



 

40 
 

3.8.4. Continue To Work With Housing Partners 
 
Newington has had success working with other organizations as “housing part-
ners” and these efforts should continue.  Organizations to work with in the fu-
ture might include one or more of the organizations listed in the sidebar. 
 
ADDRESS OTHER HOUSING ISSUES  
Continue To Work With Housing Partners 

Leader 
Partners 

1. Continue To Work With Housing Partners –  Continue to work 
with other organizations as “housing partners” in order to accom-
plish housing goals.   

 

Town 
IHC 

 
 

3.9. Implement The Affordable Housing Plan  
 
It is envisioned that the Housing Needs Study Committee, under the direction of 
the Town Council, will coordinate and oversee implementation of the strategies 
in the Affordable Housing Plan.  Of course, a number of other agencies (such as 
the Town Plan and Zoning Commission) will play important roles in implement-
ing the Plan.   
 
Implementation tables on the preceding pages are intended to facilitate imple-
mentation of the Plan. 
 
As required by State statute (CGS Section 8-30j), it is envisioned this Plan will be 
updated within five years.   
 
 

 
Housing Partners 
 
Local Organizations 
 Municipal Departments, 

Agencies, And Commis-
sions 

 Newington Housing Au-
thority 

 Newington Interfaith 
Housing 

 Local Non-Profit Organi-
zations 

 
Regional Organizations 
 Capital Region Council 

Of Governments 
 
State-Wide Organizations 
 Connecticut Depart-

ment Of Housing  
 Connecticut Housing Fi-

nance Authority (CHFA) 
 Partnership For Strong 

Communities 
 
National Organizations 
 US Department Of 

Housing And Urban De-
velopment 

 US Department Of Agri-
culture (USDA) 

 
 
 



 

 

 
 

Legend For Leaders / Partners 
 

Acronym Organization 

ED Economic Development 

IHC Newington Interfaith Housing Corporation 

NHA Newington Housing Authority 

Owners Property Owners 

Public Newington Residents  

SS Social Services 

TC Town Council 

TLTF Transient Lodging Task Force 

Town Boards, Commissions, Agencies, Departments, and Staff of the 
Town of Newington 

TPZ Town Plan and Zoning Commission 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Technical assistance in the preparation of this report provided by 
 

 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Town of East Hampton 

Town Council 

2021 Meeting Dates 

Location:  Town Hall Meeting Room 

2nd and 4th Tuesday of Each Month 

6:30pm 

January 12 

January 26 

February 9 

February 23 

March 9 

March 23 

April 13 

April 27 

May 11 

May 25 

June 8 

June 22 

July 13 

July 27 

August 10 

Summer Recess (no meeting August 24) 

September 14 

September 28 

October 12 

October 26 

November 9 

November 23 

December 14 

Winter Recess (no meeting December 28) 

Agenda Item 9a



Agenda Item 12



BOARD AND COMMISSION SUMMARY 
OCTOBER 2020 

Arts & Culture Commission 
The Arts & Culture Commission met on October 15.  Betty Sennett will attend the Town 
Hall Grand Opening.  She has requested that paintings be hung in the new art gallery.  
There have been no responses to the Capstone grant yet.  Many of the commission’s 
activities are on hold due to COVID.   

Board of Finance 
The Board of Finance met on October 19.  The Board voted to approve the FY2020 end of 
year budget transfers.  They also discussed the High School baseball field, the FY2022 
budget and the Sears Park boat launch.  

Brownfields Redevelopment Agency 
The Brownfields Redevelopment Agency met on October 26.  The members welcomed a 
new member to the agency. There was discussion and updates for the 1 Watrous Street 
project and the 13 Watrous Street/DECD STEAP Grant project as well. The members 
discussed joining another commission’s project in the future to have a way to get more 
projects finished. A presentation for the Town Council was discussed. 

Clean Energy Task Force 
No meeting 

Commission on Aging 
The Commission on Aging met on October 8.  JoAnn Ewing discussed the Senior Center 
re-opening plan.  They plan to be open by appointment only as of November 2.  The 
Commission had reached out to Eversource to see what services they offer for residents 
with special needs such as oxygen dependency and refrigeration for medications.  They 
don’t have a program during a natural disaster situation but only for planned outages.  The 
members reviewed voting for seniors, Medicare open enrollment and received a report 
from the Housing Authority. 

Conservation-Lake Commission 
The Conservation-Lake Commission met on October 8. The members were given a 
presentation about the progress of the lake with the new aeration system by John Tucci of 
Everblue Lakes. The members discussed the budget, the watershed projects, the sub-
committee report on education, the new meeting dates for the advisory panel, the lake 
smart program, and the lake level. The members discussed who is on the advisory panel 
and how to make it more transparent to the members of the commission. They just want 
to know what goes on during the panel meetings. It was brought up that the Chairman and 
Vice Chairman of the commission are members of the panel along with town officials and 
Dr. George and Hillary from NEAR. The meetings are also open to the public but are held 
during the day. A member brought up a concern they had about a new neighbor cutting 
down 5 or 6 trees on their property. The trees didn’t need to be cut down and could have 

Agenda Item 14a



stayed standing. The members were informed that Mr. DeCarli is drafting a new town 
regulation and policies on cutting trees will be added to the regulation.  
 
Design Review Board 
The Design Review Board met on October 15.  The members discussed a plan review at 62 
Main Street to enlarge the front porch. The plan was recommended for approval with 
stipulations for the applicant to take into consideration.  
 
Economic Development Commission 
The Economic Development Commission met on October 20.  The members discussed the 
East Hampton Eats Campaign, the Business Package, New Business Banner Location, 
Belltown Spotlight on Business, and Town Beautification. The East Hampton Eats 
campaign had a successful rollout and launch. There are two weeks until the first prize 
drawing. The end of the campaign is November 30th. There are 250 copies of the pamphlet 
that were delivered to the Town Hall and have been circulated around the town. The 
pictures and articles for the previous Business of the Month businesses have been 
submitted to the Rivereast and the Events Magazine. The members nominated CZ 
Equipment for Business of the Month for November. The members are flexible with zoom 
meetings and with possible in person meetings. The members would rather have zoom 
meetings for now and take it month by month.  
 
Ethics Commission 
No meeting  
 
Fire Commission 
The Fire Commission met on October 19. The members discussed the dry hydrant repairs, 
the new AC upgrades, and the new software update as well. The dry hydrants in the lake 
needs to be repaired. The parts have been ordered and it will probably take two days to 
complete. The building has been mapped out for the new AC upgrades and the new 
software received a copy of the database. Only a portion of the database has been copied 
over to the new software. The new Airline Trail signs have been ordered and waiting for 
delivery. The 2021 meeting dates were approved by the members.  
 
Inland Wetland Watercourses Agency 
The Inland Wetlands Watercourses Agency met on October 28. 
Agent Approvals:  

A. IW-20-029: Sean & Sarah Flynn, 15 Peach Farm Rd., to complete a previously 
approved and unfinished 31’ x 30’ two car garage within the Upland Review Area on 
the southeast side of property. Map 33/Block 88/Lot 14C-1  

Continued Applications:  
A. I W-20-025: Joseph Perko, 501 Moodus Road, to construct a 20’ x 45’ 2 story 

outbuilding within the Upland Review Area. Map 15/Block 28A/Lot 1. Continued to 
Nov. 25, 2020 meeting.  

New Applications:  
A. IW-20-026: Steven Phillips, 16 Maplewood Dr., to install a 16’ x 32’ in ground pool 

within the Upland Review Area. Map 19/Block 39A/Lot 10A-4. Continued to Nov. 
25, 2020 meeting.  



B. IW-20-027: Robert B. Wallace, 4 Lakewood Rd., demolition of existing cottage 
within the Upland Review Area. Map 03A/Block 44/Lot C-67. Continued to Nov. 25, 
2020 meeting.  

C. IW-20-028: Bryson Hyte, 202 Lake Drive, to install a 18’x37’x29’ pool and to 
relocate and rebuild an existing retaining wall within the Upland Review Area. Map 
09A/Block 70B/Lot 17A. Continued to Nov. 25, 2020 meeting.  

D. IW-20-030: Kevin Herrick, 49 Bay Rd., to restore existing stone wall by lake and 
install a new pervious paver patio and seat wall. Map 09A/Block 70/Lot 33. 
Continued to Nov. 25, 2020 meeting.  

E. IW-20-031: Tony Flannery, 101 Main St., clear brush, trees and stumps. Add gravel 
and top with millings. Remove UG fuel tank. Install a wash bay for the existing 
recycling yard operation. Work is within the upland review area. Map 06A/Block 
57/Lot 2. Continued to Nov. 25, 2020 meeting. 

  
Joint Facilities  
No meeting 
 
Library Advisory Board 
The Library Advisory Board met on October 5.  It was reported that the Town Council 
approved the Library Strategic Plan.  They also discussed Capital budget requests. 
 
Middle Haddam Historic District Commission 
No meeting 
 
Parks & Recreation Advisory Board 
The Parks & Recreation Advisory Board met on October 6.  The members received an 
update on the Air Line Trail noting new stone dust will be delivered and installed at the 
Cranberry Bog section of the trail on October 19.  The Golf Tournament was a success with 
over $11,000 raised.  Members received an update on fall and winter programming and 
landscaping projects at Sears Park.  They also discussed memorial benches. 
 
Planning & Zoning Commission 
The Planning & Zoning Commission held a special meeting on October 14. 
Public Hearings 

A. Application PZC-20-017:  Atlantis Marketing, for an Amendment to the Zoning 
Regulations: to amend Section 5.2 and add Sec. 5.2.C.6. Gasoline or motor fuel filling 
stations in conjunction with a retail store in the Commercial Zone. Approved 

B. Application PZC-20-018:  Atlantis Marketing, 157 Main St. and 1 Colchester Ave. for 
a zone change from R-2 to Commercial.  Map 07A/Block 56/Lot 24 and Map 
07A/Block 56/Lot 22.  Continued to Nov. 4, 2020 

C. Updates to Sec. 3.1 Lake Pocotopaug Protection Zone- Continued to Nov. 4, 2020 
 
New Business:  

A. Application PZC-20-021:  Loco Perro Restaurant, 191 East High St., for a Site Plan 
Modification to build a 731 sq. ft. addition.  Map 09A/Block 76/Lot 11A.  Approved 

B. Application PZC-20-022:  East Hampton Rotary Club Foundation, 45 Daly Rd., for a 
Special Permit for parks, playgrounds and public recreation Sec. 4.4.D.1.d Map 



33/Block 87/Lot 3.  Public hearing set for Nov. 4, 2020 
C. Application PZC-20-023:  JCG Properties, LLC., 9 Middle Haddam Rd., for a Zone 

Change from R2 to Commercial for approximately 5 acres to operate a veterinary 
clinic.  Map 01C/Block 9/Lot 5.  Public hearing set for Nov. 4, 2020 

 
Town Facility Building Committee  
No meeting 
 
Water Pollution Control Authority  
The Water Pollution Control Authority Board held a virtual Public Hearing meeting on 
October 6.  The 2020/21 sewer bills went out for October 1.   With the implementation of 
the 2-installment payment program, the Tax Collector reported that the majority of people 
are still paying their sewer bill in full. Reminder notices will be posted in the paper and 
town website in April for the 2nd installment of the sewer bills. The board unanimously 
approved the completion of the Phase 1B Skyline Estate sewer system, contingent upon 
the manhole frames (7 manholes) brought up to grade. Barbara Avenue/Pine Trail 
generator upgrades are on track.  A change order was needed to run new conduits to the 
meter boxes at an additional estimated cost of $20,000. 
 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
The Zoning Board of Appeals met on October 19.   
Public Hearings:  

A. Application ZBA-20-012, John Uliano, 29 Pocotopaug Drive, to increase the lot 
coverage from 10% to 14.7% to install a 35’ x 14’8” pool and a 30’ x 15’ pool house. 
Map 25/Block 64/Lot 20A-1. Approved  

B. Application ZBA-20-013, Andrew & Elizabeth Priest, 19 Hawthorne Rd., to reduce 
the east side setback from 13’ to 7.5’ to construct a 1 car garage. Map 10A/Block 
82/Lot 28A. Approved  

C. Application ZBA-20-014, Brian & Elise Montanari, 47 Bay Rd., to increase the lot 
coverage from 20% to 25% to place a 12’ x 16’ shed. Map 09A/Block 70/Lot 32. 
Approved  

 


	Essex Affordable Housing Plan.pdf
	Essex Affordable Housing 3.5.19
	3
	Binder1
	AffHousingOpportunitySearchRev1b
	Affordable_Housing_Plan_With_Maps
	AffHousingOpportunitySearchRev2a
	AffHousingOpportunitySearchRev3a


	essex_affordable_housing.3.5.19


	essex_affordable_housing




